
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 23 January 2024 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Damien Buckley (Tel: 0116 305 0183) 

Email: damien.buckley@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. M. Frisby CC 

Mr. K. Ghattoraya  CC 
Mr.  L. Hadji-Nikolaou CC 

Mr. R. Hills CC 
 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mrs. S. Jordan CC 
Mrs. C. Lewis 
Mr. R. Martin 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item   Report by   
 

 Webcast. 
 A webcast of the meeting can be viewed at here.  

  
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 
2023.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLrlN4_PKzPXhNpOObUQ0Q96dw7QodsU30


 
 
 
 

 
6.  

  
Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 - 
2027/28.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 11 - 42) 

9.  
  

Transforming SEND and Inclusion in 
Leicestershire (TSIL) Programme Update.  
 
(Representatives from Newton Europe will be 
present for this item). 

 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 43 - 54) 

10.  
  

Children and Family Services Departmental 
Plan 2024-26.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 55 - 64) 

11.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 
Tuesday 5 March at 2:00pm. 
 

 

12.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny website 
www.cfgs.org.uk.  The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a 
good starting point for developing questions:  
 

• Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 

quality of the consultation? 

• How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

• What does success look like? 

• What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

• What happens once the money is spent? 

• If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

• What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 

Members are reminded that, to ensure questioning during meetings remains appropriately 
focused that: 
 

(a) they can use the officer contact details at the bottom of each report to ask 

questions of clarification or raise any related patch issues which might not be best 

addressed through the formal meeting; 

 

(b) they must speak only as a County Councillor and not on behalf of any other local 

authority when considering matters which also affect district or parish/town councils 

(see Articles 2.03(b) of the Council’s Constitution).   

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works
http://www.cfgs.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 7 November 2023.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. M. Frisby CC 
Mr.  L. Hadji-Nikolaou CC 
 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
 

 
 
Webcast. 
 
A webcast of the meeting can be viewed here. 
 

29. Minutes of the meeting held on 5 September 2023.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 September 2023 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

30. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

31. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

32. To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

33. Declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

34. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

35. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 

5 Agenda Item 1

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLrlN4_PKzPXhNpOObUQ0Q96dw7QodsU30


 
 

 

2 

The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

36. Leicestershire's Response to Tackling Children Criminal Exploitation.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
presented an overview of the work and progress of the Child Exploitation, Missing and 
Modern Slavery Hub. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
Members noted that the Violence Reduction Network (VRN) was led by an officer 
connected to the Police, who worked across the partnership to identify youth violence 
and criminal exploitation. The Council worked with the VRN on analysing data to identify 
emerging themes and to form work in response. This work was replicated across sub-
regional networks but also at a local level. The Director agreed to present a report on the 
work of the VRN at a future meeting of the Committee. The Director of the VRN be invited 
to attend the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the overview of the work and progress of the Child Exploitation, Missing and 
Modern Slavery Hub, be noted.  
 

b) That the Director be requested to present a report on the Violence Reduction 
Network (VRN) at a future meeting of the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, and that the Director of the VRN would be invited to attend 
the meeting.  

 
37. Update on Admissions Service.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an update on the School Admissions Service’s performance for Autumn 2023. 
The report also provided an overview of recent service improvements and outlined a 
consultation on its admissions policy and associated arrangements which aimed to 
improve the admissions process and the parent journey. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i. In response to a question regarding the proposal to increase the number of school 
preferences from three to five on the Leicestershire school application form, 
Members noted that parents would continue to be reminded to make the maximum 
number of preferences on the form. The Department had run a media campaign 
regarding this and would continue to issue communications through schools as a 
reminder for parents. The application form contained instructions for completing it 
correctly and the Service would continue to monitor where parents had not filled it 
in correctly. 
 

ii. In response to concern that some children had been placed in schools which were 
a significant distance from their home, the Director acknowledged that this had 
been the case for some children. However, this would usually have been the case 
where a mid-term application had been received and there was a lack of 
availability within the closest school. Any application received after 31 October 

6



 
 

 

3 

would be treated as a mid-term application; this included when families moved into 
the County. In these cases, the Department would allocate a child with a place at 
the closest school with available places, and in some cases, this school could be 
some distance from the child’s home. Members noted that the Council had a 
statutory obligation to ensure that children in Leicestershire had access to 
education and members were assured that it had enough places to facilitate this. 
The Council could provide transport assistance to support children travelling more 
than two miles to a primary school or more than three miles to a secondary school, 
subject to an eligibility assessment. Members were assured that the Service 
worked closely with schools on admissions and negotiated with academies on 
school places. However, it was acknowledged academies were responsible for 
deciding their own number of places. 
 

iii. Members noted that parents could contact the Council’s School Admissions 
Service which could provide advice on waiting list options for phased rounds, 
support with the right to appeal, and discuss the option for elective home 
education. The Department would continue to advise parents to apply for a school 
place for their child. If a parent decided to electively home educate their child, the 
Department would support the parent with this discission, but no resources would 
be made available. 
 

iv. The Council had a positive relationship with Admissions Service at Leicester City 
Council. Members noted that there were popular schools in the County which 
attracted applications from families who lived in the city area. Where a child was 
allocated with a place at a county school, the child’s siblings would then also be 
likely to be offered a place at that school, as sibling groups were a high criterion 
within admissions criteria. The Council was prohibited from discriminating or 
prejudicing children from outside of catchment areas and would continue to deal 
with applications on a case by case basis. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the update on the admissions service, including a full performance 
breakdown of the year’s outcomes, service improvements and a consultation on 
the Council’s Admissions Policy, be noted. 
 

b) That the views expressed by Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will be reported to Cabinet on 28 February 2024. 

 
38. Quarter 2 2023/24 Performance Report.  

 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and Director of Children 
and Family Services which presented an update on the Children and Family Services 
Department’s performance for the period July to September 2023 (quarter 2). A copy of 
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i. In response to a question regarding the percentage of pupils educated in Good or 
Outstanding schools, members noted that some inspections had been delayed 
over the Covid pandemic, meaning that some Outstanding schools did not receive 
an inspection some time. There had also been a change to inspection processes. 

7



 
 

 

4 

The Director assured members that the management team would continue to 
closely monitor this data. 

 
ii. Members noted that the 101.2 percent increase in the number of three-year-olds 

who took up their Funded Early Education Entitlement (FEEE) in the previous 
term, as cited in the report, reflected an oversubscription for FEEE compared to 
the number of children that the Department had expected to take up the offer. 

 
iii. In response to concern regarding the number of children who were Electively 

Home Educated (EHE), members noted that this group included those children 
where EHE had been a choice rather than those where there was a medical 
reason. The Director acknowledged that the increase was a concern, and that 
EHE primary students are likely to be EHE during secondary years also, potentially 
meaning that they could never have access to school. The Department would 
continue to engage with parents on the decision to EHE children. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update on the Children and Family Services Department’s performance for the 
period July to September 2023 (quarter 2), be noted. 
 

39. The Role of the Local Authority Regarding Multi Academy Trusts.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an overview of the legislative role of local authorities in education, specifically 
with Academies. The report set out how these duties are discharged by the Children and 
Family Services Department. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
In introducing the report, the Director stated that although the report had not overtly 
amplified the role of the Leicester Diocesan Board of Education in  Church of England 
schools, their role was embedded within the detail of the report. The Department would 
continue to work with the Leicester Diocesan Board of Education on planning, 
commissioning and quality assurance; in challenging schools and, where appropriate, in 
commissioning support and, if necessary, to intervene in management and governance. If 
the Department had a concern about a school’s performance, standards, management or 
governance, safety, or a safeguarding concern, it would raise them directly with the 
Leicester Diocesan Board of Education. At the request of the Chairman, the Director 
agreed to present a report outlining the relationship between Leicestershire County 
Council and the Leicester Diocesan Board of Education, in relation to education, at a 
future meeting. 
 
A member raised concern with academy trusts in relation to land ownership, catchment 
area, and admissions. The Lead Member for Children and Families highlighted that it was 
possible to demonstrate some positives of academisation, as they could often offer 
students a different level of variety than the local authority could.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the overview of the legislative role of local authorities in education, 
specifically with regard to academies, and how these duties are discharged by the 
Children and Family Services Department, be noted. 
 

8



 
 

 

5 

b) That the Director be requested to present a report outlining the relationship 
between the Leicestershire County Council and the Leicester Diocesan Board of 
Education, in relation to education, at a future meeting of the Children and 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
40. Leicestershire Fostering Agency Statutory Report.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
presented an overview of the activity of the Fostering Service for the period 2022 -2023. 
A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Members noted that the Service would continue to target individuals from all backgrounds 
to match the needs of children and welcomed all applications. 
 
The Lead Member for Children and Families praised the Service and highlighted that 
carers were provided with a good level of training and support. Those interested in 
fostering were encouraged to contact the Service and to attend a fostering event. The 
Director agreed circulate the Annual Report, and additional information on the Service, to 
all Elected Members.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the overview of the activity of the Fostering Service for the period 2022 -
2023, be noted. 
 

b) That the Director agreed to circulate the Leicestershire Fostering Service Annual 
Report 2022-2023 to all Elected Members. 

 
41. Leicestershire Adoption Agency Statutory Report.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an overview of the activity of the Adoption Agency from March 2022 to March 
2023. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Lead Member for Children and Families praised the work of the Service and the key 
achievements it had made. The Director agreed circulate the Annual Report to all Elected 
Members. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

c) That the overview of the activity of the Adoption Agency for the period March 2022 
– March 2023, be noted. 
 

d) That the Director agreed to circulate the Leicestershire Adoption Service Annual 
Report 2022-2023 to all Elected Members. 

 
42. Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer 2022/23.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
presented the Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer with regard to 
children in care. The report evaluated the extent to which Leicestershire County Council 
had fulfilled its responsibilities to these children for the period 1 April 2022 – 31 March 
2023. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with these minutes. 

9



 
 

 

6 

 
In response to a question regarding the number of looked after children and the 
sufficiency of homes available, the Director advised that it had sometimes been 
challenging to find the correct home and carer to meet the complex needs of some 
children. Members were assured that the Children's Innovation Partnership, in 
conjunction with Barnardo’s, as well as work to recruit and retain foster carers, would aim 
to improve this position.  
 
The Lead Member for Children and Families highlighted the important work carried out by 
the Independent Reviewing Officers in ensuring that children were provided with a good 
level of support. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer with regard 
to children in care, and the extent to which Leicestershire County Council has fulfilled its 
responsibilities to these children for the period 1 April 2022 – 31 March 2023, be noted. 
 

43. Annual Report of the Virtual School 2022/23.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Families which 
provided an overview of work and data of the Virtual School for the academic year 2022-
2023. This report is statutory and requires publishing on the County Council’s website. A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 15’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Lead Member for Children and Families highlighted that the virtual school continued 
to deliver the Service well, alongside a limited budget and a small team, to support 
looked after children in Leicestershire. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the overview of work and data of the Virtual School for the academic year 2022-
2023, be noted. 
 

44. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on Tuesday 23 
January at 14:00. 
 
 
 

2.00  - 3.28 pm CHAIRMAN 
07 November 2023 

 

10



 
 

  
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 23 JANUARY 2024 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES AND THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2024/25–2027/28 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a) Provide information on the proposed 2024/25 to 2027/28 Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to the Children and Family Services 
(CFS) Department; 

 
b) Request members of the Committee to consider any issues as part of the 

consultation process and make any recommendations to the Scrutiny 
Commission and the Cabinet accordingly.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The MTFS is the financial plan that is updated annually to set out the resource intentions 

of each department and the Council overall. The current MTFS was approved by the 
County Council in February 2023. The draft MTFS for 2024/25–2027/28 was considered 
by the Cabinet on 19 December 2023. 

 
3. The Children’s Act 2004 and Children and Social Work Act 2017 allocate duties to Local 

Authorities to ensure that children are safeguarded, and their welfare is promoted. This 

legislation underpins the work of the Children and Family services with respect to looked 

after children (LAC), children in need and children in need of protection. 

 

4. The Children and Families Act 2014 and the Care Act 2014 place a duty upon Local 

Authorities to commission education, health and social care services jointly with other 

key public services like the police and NHS in order to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of all children in their area. 

 

5. ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’ guidance provides a framework for all 

the relevant legislation and sets out the importance of early identification and response 

to issues of concern, particularly for vulnerable groups. The 2023 revision focuses on 

whole-family approaches, and embedding strong, effective and consistent multi-agency 

child protection practice. 

11 Agenda Item 8



 
 

6. The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2023 set the legislative 

framework for the Schools Budget and defines the education functions to be met from 

the Local Authority Budget. 

 
7. Other relevant policies include: 

• Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan 2022-2026, 

• Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020-2023 (under review for 
2024-26), 

• (under review for 2023-25); Road to Excellence – Continuous Improvement Plan 
2017-2020 and2021-2023 (under review for 2024-26); 

• Voice and Influence Strategy 2020-2023, 

• Children and Family Services – Placement Sufficiency Statement and Market 
Position Statement, 2021-2023 Placement Sufficiency Statement and Market 
Position Statement (under review for 2024-26), 

• Children and Family Services – Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework 
(QAIF). 

 
Background 
 
8. The MTFS is set out in the report to Cabinet on 19 December 2023, a copy of which has 

been circulated to all members of the County Council. This report highlights the 

implications for the Children and Family Services Department. 

 

9. Reports such as this one are being presented to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. The Cabinet will then consider the comments of the Overview and Scrutiny 
bodies and responses from the wider consultation process at its meeting on 9 February 
2024. The County Council will meet on 21 February 2024 to consider the final MTFS.  

 
Transforming the way the Department works – Strategic Change 
 
10. Demand for Children and Family Services continues to increase with growth of £41.3m 

projected over the period of the MTFS, as the requirement to meet CFS needs before 
intervention, arising from demographic growth and an increased need for social care. 
The continuing impacts of the pandemic and cost of living crisis provide additional 
challenges which are likely to be far-reaching as the effects have a cumulative impact on 
families, increasing the likelihood of family breakdown and the need for care services.  

 
11. In response to these pressures, the Department has in recent years embarked on 

several fundamental transformation programmes starting with the Defining Children and 
Family Services for the Future programmes (DCFSF) which is now embedded and has 
been expanded into the next phase (DCFSF2) and a similar programme for 
Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL). These transformation 
programmes are focused on continuous improvement across Children and Family 
Services – ensuring positive outcomes for children and young people and their parents 
and carers, making the delivery of support sustainable for the future, and responding to 
financial pressures through the MTFS. 

 
12. Other savings are being delivered through partnerships such as the Children’s 

Innovation Partnership (CIP) with Barnardo’s and through service re-design. 

 

12



 
 

13. Several substantial cross-cutting change corporate-led programmes have emerged to 
enhance the efficiency of the authority. The Prevention Review programme involves a 
systemic examination of prevention activities undertaken across the authority and its 
partners, aiming to reduce unnecessary expenditures and alleviate demand on higher-
cost services. The Customer Programme focuses on streamlining and modernizing 
customer contact through automation and technology. The Sustainable Support 
Services Programme will ensure the optimal allocation of internal support resources and 
processes to enhance compliance and reduce costs. The Council is also fully 
embedding the Ways of Working programme, striking the right balance between home, 
office, and remote working. This initiative will maximise the utilisation of council property 
and technology to drive improvements in productivity and efficiency and cost. All of 
these programmes will act as key enablers to support the Department’s service activities 
in the most cost-effective and efficient manner.   

 
14. The main programmes of current departmental transformational work in CFS are 

encapsulated in the following: 
 

Transforming SEND and Inclusion (TSIL) 
 

15. In August 2022, the Department embarked on a new change programme for SEND and 
inclusion, known as Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL). This 
programme replaces the former High Needs Block development programme and whilst it 
builds on previous activity it takes a different approach as it focuses on taking a whole-
system approach to support inclusion in mainstream wherever possible. In addition, a 
third-party partner, Newton Europe, has been commissioned to support the programme, 
provide challenge to the system, and ensure an effective, child-centered delivery. 

 
16. A diagnostic was undertaken in late 2021 to understand the challenges and difficulties in 

the local SEND system and to inform programme planning for the TSIL programme. 
Using the evidence and data from the diagnostic, which highlighted the biggest 
challenges to meeting the needs of children and young people in the right place at the 
right time, the delivery of the programme has been structured around four key 
workstreams: 

 
I. Inclusive Practice 

II. Service Transformation 
III. Accurate Information 
IV. Communication and Engagement  

 
17. The contract with Newton Europe has been extended and they will now be providing full 

time support until February 2024. At this point workstreams will be led within the 
Department and Newton will reduce their involvement to that of heath checks until July 
2024.The TSIL programme is now well into its ‘implementation phase’, with the majority 
of the designed changes having begun to be implemented across the target areas – 
ranging from specific teams in LCC to the entirety of the SEND system in Leicestershire. 
This will deliver significant improvements and a financial impact largely via a reduction to 
growth within the system. The programme predominantly aims to deliver solutions for 
new entrants into the SEND system, and not to inappropriately change provision for 
children already within a specialist placement. 

 
18. As this phase of the TSIL programme moves into sustainability, there will also be a 

consolidation and assessment of future opportunities to further improve the financial 

13



 
 

position within the High Needs Block. This will include the changes being trialled as part 
of the DfE’s ‘Change Partner Programme’ (potential reforms in the SEND system), for 
which LLR is the lead for the East Midlands region. 

 
Defining Children and Family Services for the Future Programme 2 (DCFSF2) 
 
19. DCFSF2 follows on from the DCFSF 1 programme which worked intensively with 

consultants Newton Europe to develop and future-proof Children and Family Services so 
that the right interventions are delivered in the right way, at the right time, to ensure that 
children, young people and families achieve the best possible outcomes while also 
ensuring that the service is financially sustainable going forwards.  

 
The Children’s Innovation Partnership (CIP)  
 
20. In partnership with Barnardo’s, alternative service delivery models are being designed 

culminating so far with an Assessment and Resource Team (ART), hub and assessment 
bed model and a residential build and conversion plan to improve the sufficiency and 
quality of residential provision.  

 
Financial Control Measures  
 
21. Given the increasingly challenging financial outlook, in addition to the plans set out in the 

MTFS, there is a need to ensure that financial controls are tightly operated, and 
additional measures introduced to restrict expenditure. 

 
22. In particular the areas of focus are on: 

a) Recruitment, 
b) Use of Agency staff, 
c) Overtime, 
d) Mobile phones, 
e) Procurement, 
f) Grant funding, 
g) A range of other non-essential spend including use of consultants, advertising 

and promotions, conferences, travel/subsistence and levels of stock holdings. 
 

23. Reviews will be undertaken within these areas to identify where spend can be reduced 
and stopped. Also new approvals around areas such as recruitment and procurement 
will be required to be signed off by Departmental Directors and/or approved by corporate 
oversight boards. 

 
24. These controls will be kept under review and consideration will be given to stepping 

them up or down as required, subject to the Council’s financial position and expected 
reliance on reserves.  

 
Proposed Revenue Budget 
 
25. The table below summarises the proposed 2024/25 revenue budget and provisional 

budgets for the next four years. The proposed 2024/25 revenue budget is shown in 
detail in Appendix A.  

 

  
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

14



 
 

Original prior year budget 100,772 117,107 120,867 125,757 

Budget Transfers and Adjustments 2,540 0 0 0 

Add proposed growth (Appendix B) 16,100 7,850 8,540 8,820 

Less proposed savings (Appendix 
B) 

-2,305 -4,090 -3,650 -3,500 

Total Net Provisional CFS Budget  117,107 120,867 125,757 131,077 

  
26. Detailed service budgets have been compiled on the basis of no pay or price inflation, a 

central contingency will be held which will be allocated to services as necessary. Budget 
transfers to cover the additional costs associated with the 2023/24 pay award are still to 
be finalised but will likely to be reflected in the final MTFS to be reported to Cabinet. 

 
Other Changes and Transfers 
 
27. Net budget transfers increases totalling £2.5m were made during the 2023/24 financial 

year and are now adjusted for in the updated original budget. The majority of this relates 
to the outputs of the CFS fee review which resulted in an inflationary increase in cost for 
children social care placements provided for from the central inflation contingency.  

 
28. Growth and savings have been categorised in the appendices under the following 

classification: 
 
*   item unchanged from previous MTFS; 
**   item included in the previous MTFS, but amendments have been made: 
No stars new item. 
 
This star rating is included in the descriptions set out for growth and savings below. 

 
29. Savings have also been classified as Transformation or Departmental and highlighted as 

“Eff” or “SR” dependent on whether the saving is seen as an efficiency or a service 
reduction or a mixture of both. “Inc” denotes those savings that are funding related or to 
generate more income. 
 

Growth 
 
30. Growth over the next four years in the Children and Family Services budget totals 

£41.3m. This is mainly due to pressures on the Social Care placements budget arising 
from increased numbers of Looked After Children, predominantly unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children, alongside significant increases in cost of placements for 
children looked after and care leavers. 

 
31. The budget increases are outlined below with details for each growth item and 

summarised in the table below and in Appendix B. 
 

 

15



 
 

 
 
** G1 - Social Care Placements £13.7m 2024/25 rising to £39.8m by 2027/28  
 
32. The children’s social care placements budget comprises of a variety of settings to look 

after children as part of a statutory duty to safeguard children who may be at risk of 
harm. 

 
33. This significant growth pressure relates largely to the increasing cost of children’s social 

care placement mix. Whilst demand for non-Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) LAC in 
Leicestershire beginning to stabilise and align with national growth projections, the 
average cost of the most costly provision type, residential provision has increased 
significantly, and unit costs likely to continue to increase by circa annual 10%, which will 
include the impact of NLW and inflation.  

 
34. The other two key contributing factors impacting the rising cost of provision are:  
 

a) Cohort of children (those with the most appropriate fit for residential care): the 
Department is seeing an increase in the complexity of young people taken into 
care and requiring a residential placement. This includes young people with 
complex mental health difficulties, violence and aggression as result of 
experiencing trauma, criminal exploitation, risk of harm to self and others, 
controlling behaviour, repeat missing episodes and court ordered deprivation of 
liberty.  
 

b) Market pressures and sufficiency: A lack of provider capacity and volatility in the 
market, has significantly increased the cost of new placements compared to 
those placements ending.  This is particularly challenging when searching for 
placements for children with a range of complex needs ‘unattractive’ to the 
market (needs) and results in the use of high cost (£10k+/ per week per child) 
interim provisions until behaviour stabilises or another placement can be found. 
Lack of step-down options from residential provision is also an issue. There are 
currently around ten children who have been waiting long periods to ‘step down’ 
to family-based placements that cannot be found. This is compounded by the 
low recruitment pipeline for mainstream carers, locally and nationally, which 
particularly impacts on availability of placements for older children and those 
with more complex needs.  

 
35. Currently the average weekly cost per residential placement increased from £4.8k per 

week (budgeted average cost financial year based on previous trends) to the current 
average of £5.8k per week which equates to a 21% increase in the last 12 months. The 
significantly increasing cost of new placements compared to those placements ending is 
further compounding the financial pressures being projected.  This is illustrated further in 
the graph below. 

GROWTH 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£000 £000 £000 £000

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES

** G1 Demographic growth & increasing cost of Social Care Placement mix 13,700 21,400 30,100 39,800

** G2 Front-line social care staff - increased caseloads 0 250 250 350

G3 Post Transforming SEND & Inclusion In Leicestershire(TSIL) sustainability 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200

G4 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) - increased demand/cost 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250

G5 Demand management -1,050 -1,150 -1,310 -2,290

TOTAL 16,100 23,950 32,490 41,310

References

16



 
 

 
Average Cost of new placements starting from 2019/20 to 2023/24 

 
 

36. The graph above is a further illustration of the rapidly changing landscape of the cost of 
external residential placements and highlights a higher percentage of very costly 
placements, such as those £7k plus per week, increasing over more recent years. For 
example, prior to financial year 2019/20, there were no packages costing over £7k 
compared to circa 18% of packages this financial year. This further highlights the 
significance and impact of an increasing complex cohort of children entering the system, 
together with market factors influencing of the cost of provision upwards. 

 
37. Over the last year there has been an 18.7% increase in the cost of the top ten high-cost 

placements. In 2022/23 there were two children with a weekly placement cost of over 
£10k a week (£14.6k and £10.1k). Since April 2023, nine of the ten highest cost children 
have been over £10k a week, four of which are significantly higher ranging from £12k- 
£14.3k per week. The profile of the most costly placements is a direct result of a 
combination of complexity of needs, market conditions and sufficiency issues, 
contributing to increased cost pressure in supporting this group of vulnerable young 
children.   

 
38. There is a national trend of increasing numbers of children and young people in care. 

The national average increase is around 4% over the last five years. LAC growth for 
children who aren’t UASC in Leicestershire has been relatively stable over recent years, 
but due to the increasing pressures linked to UASC, current growth projections have 
been modelled following a similar trajectory to current national trends, which is still a 
significant improvement from actual trends from previous years which has seen 
Leicestershire’s annual LAC cohort increase above 10%, including a high point of 12.3% 
in 2019/20.    

 
39. The Department has been continually focused on preventing (where is it right for the 

child to do so), children coming into care and reducing the time that children and young 
people are in care. It should be noted – Leicestershire LAC numbers currently are being 
skewered by some unique challenges linked to demand in UASC. Nevertheless, the 
overall rate of Children in Care per 10k 0–17-year-old population (49 per 10,000) 
remains lower than comparator authorities (mean of 58 per 10,000) – see table below. 

 

17



 
 

 
40. The other variable that has a big impact on placement weekly costs and the budget are 

the level of needs of each child and younger person. Again, these are not easy to predict 
accurately but there is a national trend of older children presenting with an increasingly 
complex range of emotional and behavioural needs resulting in foster carers unable or 
unwilling to foster these children and residential homes being able to command bespoke 
fees including additional support and waking night premiums. 

 
41. As mitigation, placements and their costs are continuously reviewed within the 

Department and further investment is being made to build LCC owned residential homes 
with care provided in partnership with Barnardo’s as part of the Children’s Innovation 
Partnership (CIP).  

 
** G2 – Front Line Social Care Staff – Caseload Management £0m 2024/25 rising to 
£0.35m 2027/28  

 
42. Investment in additional front-line social care staff capacity is required to ensure 

appropriate caseload levels and to continue to meet statutory duties. Assumptions 
around caseloads and the resources required in each team were reviewed as part of the 
Defining Children and Family Services for the Future programme and the social care 
pathway continues to be reviewed to ensure the most appropriate resources are 
engaged at the right time. 

 
43. This growth is to provide for increases in demand and caseloads and whilst numbers of 

children in care and on child protection orders are not increasing as rapidly as projected 
in previous years, the day-to-day management of those cases are becoming more 
complex both as result of increasing children’s needs and also the level of support 
required for newly qualified social workers. 

 
44. It should be noted this is a reduced growth projection (circa £2.5m reduction vs a 

position which included previous pressures linked to workforce instability) versus what 
has been projected 12 months ago.  

 

 G
lo

u
ce

st

er
sh

ir
e 

W
ar

w
ic

k

sh
ir

e 

C
en

tr
al

 

B
ed

fo
rd

s

h
ir

e 
W

o
rc

es
t

er
sh

ir
e 

H
am

p
sh

i

re
 

Es
se

x 

N
o

rt
h

 

So
m

er
se

t 
St

af
fo

rd
s

h
ir

e 

C
h

es
h

ir
e 

Ea
st

 

Le
ic

e
st

er

sh
ir

e 

M
ea

n
 

2016/
17 48 62 50 66 51 33 52 59 57 37 50 

2017/
18 52 63 51 68 56 33 55 65 63 40 52 

2018/
19 56 62 51 71 59 34 56 69 63 42 54 

2019/
20 57 64 50 69 56 34 53 72 69 46 54 

2020/
21 61 72 50 72 58 34 49 73 66 49 56 

2021/
22 66 69 51 75 61 36 46 77 67 49 58 

 

18



 
 

45. Nationally there is continued shortage of qualified social worker staff which is projected 
to worsen as research shows trends of reducing numbers of entrants into social care 
training and qualified social workers not remaining in front line work on average for more 
than eight years. There is also a growing number of staff moving to agency work, or 
neighbouring local authorities, for inflated rates of pay.  

 
46. Whilst all of these factors and issues are still very prevalent within Leicestershire 

currently and still of significant concern operationally, there has been some very positive 
recruitment and retention activities across Leicestershire, such as increasing the number 
of staff undertaking the apprenticeship social work course, international social worker 
recruitment initiatives and Leicestershire paying market premia payments to try to 
ensure average pay is more in line with similar posts across the region. Linked to a 
stabilisation and better case management of demand and service need, this has 
resulted in a reduced growth pressure versus what has previously been projected, 
although this position will need continual review.  

  
G3 – Post Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) sustainability - 
£1.2m 2024/25  
 
47. The TSIL programme is now well into its ‘implementation phase’, with the majority of the 

designed changes having been implemented across the target areas – ranging from 
specific teams within the County Council to the entirety of the SEND system in 
Leicestershire. This will deliver significant improvements and savings. The programme 
predominantly aims to deliver solutions to this for new entrants into the SEND system, 
and not to inappropriately change provision for a child. 

 
48. The TSIL programme has considered workload and performance within the Special 

Educational Needs Assessment (SENA) Service. The Service is responsible for 
delivering the local authorities statutory duty under the SEND Code of Practice to carry 
out statutory assessment and review of children and young people who have an EHCP 
from age 0 – 25, write Education Health and Care (EHCP’s) plans and identify and 
secure the provision to meet the needs and are key contributors to meeting the 20 week 
statutory timeline for assessments but are dependent upon other advice givers to do so.  

 
49. The review identified that the current model was failing to achieve statutory duties; 
 

i. 1% of new EHCP’s were delivered on time 
ii. 10% of EHCP amendments were completed in the required 12 week 
iii. 33% of annual reviews were completed 

iv. 12% of phase transfers were completed on time 
  

50. A review of the SENA Service considered ‘ways of working’ as well as well as capacity. A 
new operating model has created three specialist teams focusing on assessments, 
reviews and placements. This will improve productivity by creating expert teams in each 
of these areas and is estimated to improve productivity by c30%. The review also 
considered capacity from a performance perspective but also the current position of 
agency staff. The growth request will increase staffing through expanding case manager 
numbers and management capacity. Workflow tracking will allow the effective 
management of staffing levels to respond to peaks and troughs in service demand as 
well as changing trends with a clear link between staffing needs and service volume.  

19



 
 

51. The growth funding will move the Alongside changes in the Education Psychology (EP) 
Service, the new service structure and approach to managing workload will: 

 

• Improve the timeliness of assessments, reviews and placements – 11% of 
assessments are now being completed within the 20-week timeframe, compared 
to 2% in 2022 and 0% for the first half of 2023. The programme will be 
continuously seeking to drive this number up. 

• Improve communication with parents and schools with clear steps in all 
processes, in turn reducing complaints and tribunals in the longer term 

• Ensure that every child achieves the right support at the right time, and 
placements will meet need 

 
52. Under the Schools and Early Years Finance (England) regulations the costs of the SEN 

assessment service falls to the local authority budget. However, the financial benefit is 
through reduced placement costs which, under the same regulations, fall to be met from 
HNDSG. Whilst local authorities cannot directly contribute to DSG without the 
permission of the Secretary State this position clearly sets out the contradictory nature of 
the SEN funding system. 

 
53. The achievement of some TSIL benefits is also dependent upon the delivery of the 

above but also sufficient capacity to engage proactively with parents and schools, 
managing performance through case tracking and understanding specialist provision 
particularly the capacity they have and the children they can best support. To respond to 
this position and mitigate its impact on both the delivery of statutory duties and 
programme savings a growth bid of £1.2m has been considered necessary within the 
MTFS without which it is estimated that c£9m of TSIL benefits could be at risk. 

G4 – Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) – Increased demand and cost 
£2.25m 2024/25  
 
54. The financial growth pressure in relation to the Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 

Children (UASC) budget is largely due to the rapid increase in UASC in care and care 
leavers, which has required a greater resource requirement to meet their needs. The 
different entry routes include both the National Transfer Scheme (NTS), as well as 
spontaneous arrivals. But more recently through the hotel dispersal scheme where 
requests to accommodate people placed in Asylum Dispersal Hotels in Leicestershire 
are made, and whilst they have been deemed adults by the Home Office, subsequently 
claim to be children, which creates an additional pressure for the Service to manage 
which is not fully funded. In addition, delays in asylum claim processes mean that the 
Council is often accommodating young people well past 18 and the Home-Office funding 
drops significantly at 18 but the costs do not. 

 
55. Currently there are 130 UASC in care. This is an increase of 70 young people (117%) 

since 31st March 2022. This rise continues the upward trend noted in 2021/22, an 
expected increase due to the NTS becoming mandatory and two dispersal hotels 
opening in Leicestershire. UASC over 18’s is currently 135, which represents almost a 
96% increase since March 2022, and this is linked to the increasing number of care 
leavers, for whom a significantly reduced funding rate is received in comparison to the 
costs being incurred. 

 
56. Recent figures provided by the East Midlands Council based on returns from local 

authorities show since July 2021, a total of 258 unaccompanied young people claiming 

20



 
 

to be children in adult asylum hotels have been taken into care across all upper tier LAs 
in the region except Rutland, almost a third of which coming into care in Leicestershire, 
creating an additional financial burden. The issue continues to be raised with the Home 
Office at senior officer level. 

 
G5 – Demand Management- £1.1m 2024/25 rising to £2.3m by 2027/28 
 
57. A growth reduction target to further mitigate the risk of demand-led growth. Represents 

10% of the increase in growth required compared to 2023-27 MTFS for growth linked to 
children’s social care placements.  

 
Savings  

 
58. Details of proposed savings for the local authority budget are set out in the table below 

and Appendix B and total £2.3m in 2024/25 and £13.5m over the next four years.  
 
59. Additionally, the MTFS aims to ensure sustainable services for children and young 

people with Special Educational Needs (SEN) within the High Needs Block of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)Cost reductions of £41.469m are forecast over the 
period of the MTFS but an annual deficit continues. 

 

 
 
The following paragraphs provide the detail of each savings item; 
 
** CF1 (Eff) Children’s Innovation Partnership - Residential re-design - £1m in 2024/25 
rising to £1.5m by 2026/27 

 
60. This programme is designed to improve the outcomes of children and young people in 

care in Leicestershire and enable the Department to ensure effective provision to the 
most vulnerable children and at an agreed cost. This will allow for children to be placed 
in the right placements first time and receive the most appropriate support tailored to 
their needs and improve placement stability as well as delivering efficiency savings.  

 
61. With an increasing shortage of residential placements for children and young people, 

market pressures driving costs and an increasingly profit driven market, the appetite is 
for LAs to invest in their own residential capacity. DFE are encouraging this with match 
funding capital investments. 

 
62. The overall ambition is to create up to 23 placements over the next five years. This 

reduces the reliance on the private sector and providing support to children and young 

SAVINGS 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES

** CF1 Eff Innovation Partnership - Creation of Assessment & Resource team 

and Hub and investment in residential accommodation

-1,000 -1,250 -1,500 -1,500

* CF2 Eff Departmental establishment modelling / Re-design 0 -440 -940 -940

** CF3 Eff Defining CFS For the Future Programme - Phase 2 (including Dept. 

Eff. Savings) -200 -1,100 -1,700 -2,300

** CF4 SR Education Quality & Therapeutic Services Review -355 -355 -355 -355

CF5 Eff Reduced Care Costs through growth of internal family based 

placements -750 -1,250 -2,100 -3,100

CF6 Eff Defining CFS For the Future Programme 3: Smarter commissioning 

and procurement - Social Care Placements and externally 

commissioned services 0 -1,900 -3,200 -4,950

CF7 Eff SEND Service - Demand reduction and reduced tribunals 0 -100 -250 -400

TOTAL -2,305 -6,395 -10,045 -13,545

21



 
 

people in a holistic way, keeping the number of children and young people requiring 
residential care within Leicestershire, close to their families and services like school, 
CAMHS, their social workers.  

 
63. Over recent years, the need for residential care has been fairly consistent but with 

increasing demand and need in more specialist areas including homes for children and 
young people experiencing or at risk of child sexual exploitation (CSE) or child criminal 
exploitation (CCE), parent and child residential care and those with complex emotional 
needs who would otherwise require hospitalisation. The ambition is therefore to open a 
number of homes owned by the Council and run by Barnardo’s under the CIP aligned to 
these types of needs. 

 
64. Investment of £5.96m has been included in the capital programme over the life of this 

programme of which there is £2m approved grant funding from the DFE. Based on the 
market prices of external placements – the current profiled savings profile is viewed as 
realistic and achievable based on increased internal sufficiency. 

 
65. To date, the current pipeline and progress with this programme is listed below: 
 

a) Four CSE/CCE homes – match funded by Department for Education. One home 

opened in May 2023. One more of these homes is expected to be open by 

December 2023 and Two in early 2024, 

b) One Parent and Child residential home – is currently in the Ofsted registration 

process, 

c) One EBD assessment unit providing two beds – Property identified, purchase 

not yet finalised; match funded by Department of Education, 

d) One Standard Emotional Behavioural need residential home - match funded by 

Department for Education – property searches underway. DfE timescale is 

completion of refurb by March 2025. Opening estimate, taking recruitment of 

staff and Ofsted registration into consideration is December 2025, 

e) One complex need home - match funded by Department for Education - DfE 

timescale is completion of refurb by March 2025. Opening estimate, taking 

recruitment of staff and Ofsted registration into consideration is December 2025. 

This property is a new build but due to significant contractor issues is not likely 

to be completed before March 2025. 

 

*CF2 (Eff) Departmental Establish Modelling Redesign - £0.44m in 2025/26 rising to 
£0.94m by 2026/27 

 
66. In response to national and local challenges recruiting and retaining social workers and 

increasing numbers of Children In Need, this workstream, as part of the DCFSF2 
programme, has been set up to review roles and responsibilities across the care 
pathway rebalancing workloads as well as thresholds for support so that support is 
provided for families with the most appropriate resources, likely to result in a greater use 
of non-social work qualified staff to support families deemed to be children in need. 

 
**CF3 (Eff) Defining CFS for the Future Phase 2 (DCFSF2) Including Dept. Efficiencies - 
£0.2m in 2024/25 increasing to £2.3m by 2027/28 

 

22



 
 

67. Following on from the success of the first programme phase, Defining Children and 
Family Services for the Future programme 2 (DCFSF2) has been implemented and will 
be delivered in different phases. The first phase, the diagnostic phase has been 
completed, identifying the following priorities for change as well as the Establishment 
Modelling Redesign workstream outlined in CF2 above: 
 

• Staying Close – improved sufficiency of homes for care leavers and improved 
services that enable care leavers to be healthier, happier and to have improved 
emotional wellbeing, and as such reduced need for support services. 

• Short breaks – a review of the Council’s offer to have greater alignment to local 
need 

• Recurrent removal of children from families- aimed to support families to 
address lifestyle or parenting issues that will mean future children will not be 
removed from their care. 

• Smarter ways of working - identify savings from all non-placement and social 
care staff budgets for example reviewing opportunities for Business Support 
efficiencies through identifying opportunities for automation. 

 
**CF4 (SR) Education Quality and Therapeutic Services review - £355k in 2024/25  
 
68. A review of this Service area is planned to re-focus on the statutory elements of this 

Service, whilst ensuring that the needs of children supported continue to be supported 
as appropriate.  

 
CF5 (Eff) Reducing Care Costs through growth of internal family-based placements - 
£0.75m in 2024/25 rising to £3.1m by 2027/28 
 
69. This saving programme is focused on outputs which will avoid placements entering more 

costly provision, primarily in the external market: 
 

• Increase of internal fostering placements, 

• Utilisation of internal foster placements, 

• Increase of Special Guardianship Orders (SGO), 

• Domestic Abuse offer, 

• Children with Disability – enablement. 
 
70. For example, in regard to increase of internal fostering placements – The Fostering 

Service works to achieve targets for recruitment of foster carers, specialist foster carers 
and other types of carers. The principles of this activity include ensuring that children are 
living within or close to their communities, have access to their local resources and 
reduced spend on more costly services through Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA). 

 
71. In addition, in relation to the Increase of Special Guardianship Orders (SGO) – Two 

service changes were introduced during Defining 1, to achieve the ‘exit’ of children from 
care through what is called an SGO. A stretch target was set based on analysis of the 
children’s Care Plans. These changes saw a significant increase in the number of SGOs 
made in year, far exceeding the stretch target for year 1, and is on target for exceeding 
the target set for following years. 

 
CF6 (Eff) Defining CFS for the Future Programme 3: Smarter commissioning and 
procurement – Social Care Placements and externally commissioned services 
- £1.9m in 2025/26 rising to £4.95m by 2027/28 

23



 
 

 
72. The sufficiency duty (section 22G of the Children Act 1989) requires local authorities to 

do more than simply ensure that accommodation be 'sufficient' in terms of the number of 
beds provided. They must have regard to the benefits of securing a range of 
accommodation through several providers. The accommodation must also meet the 
needs of children. In addition to this, there is a duty to delivery statutory services either 
through internal provision or through commissioned services. 

 
73. CFS delivers these duties through the CFS Commissioning Service. Functions include 

brokerage (search for, match and procurement of placements on and off framework for 
children in foster care, residential provision, supported accommodation and independent 
special schools), quality assurance of these provision, stimulating the market through an 
annually produced Market Position and Sufficiency statement and related activity to 
secure beds and other services e.g., through mini competitions, block contracts, 
invitations to tender. The Service is also responsible for ensuring compliant spend 
throughout the department, achieving value for money and compliance of delivery of all 
these contracts. 

 
74. The most significant area of growth in children’s services is in the cost of residential 

placements. This issue is reflected nationally because of the spiralling costs of 
placements for children in residential provision. This issue is in part linked to the 
increased complexity of children for whom the Department needs to find placements, but 
in the main is linked to market pressures.  

 
75. To impact the growth in the CFS Department there is greater need to have a clear focus 

on the way in which the Service commission placements and the exploration of other 
commissioning models, alongside the development of in-house provision.    

 
76. This Defining 3 workstream will: 
 

a) See the introduction of key functions into the Service, 
b) See the review of functions and realignment of resources to ensure priority 

activities can be completed, 
c) Introduce new and increased commissioning and procurement activity to meet 

the local authority’s sufficiency duty. 
 
CF7 (Eff) SEND Service – Demand reduction and reduced tribunals - £0.1m in 2025/26 
rising to £0.4m by 2027/28  

 
77. Part of the outputs the TSIL programme of work is likely to result in longer term 

reduction in demand in relation to number of tribunals, which as a result will have a 
reduced infrastructure cost to support the level of demand coming through the system.  

 
Savings Under Development 
 
78. Alongside the delivery of the MTFS departments are also looking at the potential for 

additional savings which are not yet currently developed enough to be able to quantify 
and build into the detailed savings schedules. Examples include: 

 

• Expand Establishment Modelling and Dynamic Modelling 

Following Delivery of Establishment Modelling within the Defining Programmes 
in localities, there may be an opportunity to expand the approach across the 

24



 
 

Department. Dynamic resourcing models identify any surplus/under-utilised 
resources that can be reprioritised in other localities or applicable services. 

 

• Section 106 Process Review 

Potential to automate part of the S106 process to reduce staffing requirements 
and ensure all related costs are charged against the S106 funding.     

 

• Centralisation of Budgets  

Centralise of some non-staffing budgets and bringing in tighter process controls 
to reduce overspends. The first call on these savings though will be to reduce 
existing budget pressures (to avoid growth) and address prior year gaps in 
department efficiencies. 

 

• Defining CFSF – Next Phases  

At a very early stage, but ideas for potential savings are being considered in 

several areas including partnership approach to reducing referrals, reducing 

duplication and Commissioning and Planning – support across key areas to 

implement new processes, which will deliver value for money and volume 

discounts on an ongoing basis. 

 
79. As the savings opportunities are identified and quantified, they will be prioritised based 

on amount of savings, impact and deliverability. 
 
80. Considering the scale of the challenge faced by the Council to balance the MTFS, 

existing financial control measures are being reinforced and new ones being applied to 
ensure a tight focus on eliminating non-essential spend. Inevitably further savings 
beyond those identified in this report will be needed and where possible included in the 
final MTFS. 

 
Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
81. For 2024/25 the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) remains calculated in four separate 

blocks as set out below: 
 

Funding Block Areas Funded Basis for Settlement 

Schools Block 
Est £521.4m 
consisting of; 
 

• School 
formula 
funding 
£518.5m 

 

• School 
Growth £2.8m  

Individual budgets for 
maintained schools and 
academies.  
 
Growth funding for the 
revenue costs of delivering 
additional mainstream school 
places and to meet the local 
authority's duty to ensure a 
sufficient number of school 
places.  
 
DSG is notionally allocated 
to Leicestershire for all 
maintained schools and 

2024/25 sees further 
transition to the National 
Funding Formula (NFF) by 
the DfE. The NFF continues 
to attribute units of funding to 
pupil characteristics. The 
grant settlement is based on: 

• the aggregate of pupil led 
characteristics for each 
individual school: 

• a block allocation for 
school led factors. 

 

25



 
 

academies. A locally agreed 
funding formula is applied to 
this to determine school 
budgets, for maintained 
schools these are allocated 
directly by the local authority, 
for academies the funding is 
recouped from the 
settlement by the Education 
and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA) who then directly 
fund academies. 
 
 

These allocations are 
required to be fully delegated 
to schools, the only 
exception being any 
elements of de-delegated 
funding for maintained 
school agreed by the schools 
Forum following consultation 
with schools.  
 
The NFF means that all local 
authorities receive the same 
amount of funding for a 
number of pupil related 
characteristics. Differences 
in funding levels relate to the 
incidence of pupil 
characteristics rather than 
differing funding levels 
 
 
The allocation of funding to 
support new school growth 
will be retained to meet the 
future costs of new and 
expanding schools. 
 
In respect of school formula 
funding this represents a 
cash increase of 5.46  
 

Central School 
Services Block 
£3.9m 

This funds historic financial 
commitments related to 
schools such as premature 
retirement costs, some 
budgets related to schools 
that are centrally retained 
e.g. admissions, servicing 
the schools Forum and 
school copyright licences. 
This block now includes 
funding from the retained 
duties element of the former 
Education Services Grant for 
the responsibilities that local 
authorities have for all pupils 
such as school place 
planning and asset 
management. 
 

This is distributed through a 
per pupil allocation basis and 
is retained by the local 
authority. 
 
The funding allocation for 
some historic financial 
commitments is being 
reduced nationally as the 
DfE have an expectation that 
these financial commitments 
will naturally expire. As for 
2023/24 the DfE will allow 
local authorities to claim 
additional DSG if they have 
insufficient funding to meet 
school historic premature 
retirement costs which do 
not expire. 
 

26



 
 

High Needs 
Block  
 
£108.5m 

Funds special schools and 
other specialist providers for 
high needs pupils and 
students, the pupil referral 
unit and support services for 
high needs pupils including 
high needs students in 
further education provision. 
 
As with the Schools Block 
this includes funding for 
special academies and post 
16 providers which is 
recouped by the ESFA who 
then directly fund 
academies. 
 
 
Confirmation of the 2024/25 
grant is not expected until 
March 2024. 
  

The formula is based upon 
population of 0–19-year-olds, 
rather than the 0 -25-year-
old population it supports, 
and proxy indicators for 
additional educational need 
including deprivation, ill 
heath, disability and low 
attainment. Also included is 
an element based on historic 
spend. The formula also 
includes a funding floor to 
ensure that local authorities 
do not receive a funding 
reduction as a result of the 
introduction of the formula. 
Leicestershire receives £2.8 
(3%) through this element. 
 
 

Early Years Est 
£63.2m   
 

Funds the Free Entitlement 
to Early Education (FEEE) 
for 2, 3 and 4 year olds and 
an element of the early 
learning and childcare 
service. The entitlement to 
FEEE expands to 15 hours 
for 2-year-olds from April 
2024 and to under 2’s in 
September 2024 
 
The grant is based on the 
universal hourly base rate 
plus additional needs 
measured with reference to 
free school meals, disability 
living allowance and English 
as an additional language.  
 
The initial settlement is 
based on the January 2023 
census. The grant will be 
updated in July 2024 for the 
2024 January census and 
again in June 2025 for the 
January 2025 census. The 
final grant will not be 
confirmed until June 2025. 
 

The allocation is based on 
individual pupil 
characteristics and 
converted to a rate per hour 
of participation. 
Leicestershire receives the 
lowest rate of £5.47 per hour 
for 3- and 4-year-olds and 
the the 5th lowest rate of 
£7.27 3 per hour for 2-year-
olds and £9.86 per hour for 
under 2’s. 
 
 

27



 
 

£697.0m 2024/25 Estimated DSG 

 
82. The 2024/25 MTFS continues to set the overall Schools Budget as a net nil budget at local 

authority level. However, in 2024/25 there is a funding gap of £16.9m on the High Needs 
Block which will be carried forward as an overspend against the grant.  

 
Schools Block  
 
83. School funding continues to be delivered by the National Funding Formula (NFF) which 

funds all pupils at the same rate irrespective of the authority in which they are educated.  
The NFF uses pupil characteristics each with a nationally set funding rate to generate 
school level funding to local authorities.  Within the NFF only the per pupil entitlement is 
universal to all. Other factors reflect the incidence of additional needs such as 
deprivation and low prior attainment.  Funding levels between local authorities and 
individual schools within those local authorities vary as a result of pupil characteristics 
rather than national funding levels.  

84. Local authorities remain responsible for setting their own local funding formula. 
However, the DfE have established significant restrictions and only minimal movements 
from the NFF are allowed. The Leicestershire funding formula reflects the NFF with two 
exceptions, the first being changes to pupil numbers and subsequent pupil funding 
protections for school affected by age range change and some funding for school 
required to rent either premises or playing fields. The former of these changes has been 
approved by the DfE, for the latter approval is contingent on the provision of lease 
agreements to the DfE.   

85. The 2024/25 Schools Block DSG settlement is £521.4m, with school being guaranteed a 
minimum increase per pupil of 0.5%.  

86. Additionally, within the Schools Block, but separate to funding for individual schools, 
local authorities receive funding for the initial revenue costs of commissioning additional 
primary and secondary school places The DfE have changed the funding methodology 
for the grant and introduced minimum funding requirements linked to payment by place 
rather than by block allocations. This has in turn required a new policy to be adopted 
which links the payment rates received within the grant allocation to the payments made 
to schools. The revised policy was considered and approved by the schools Forum on 
21 November and will be applicable to schools encountering new growth from April 
2024. The grant is £2.8m and will need to meet the costs of school growth currently 
within the system that is not fully completed, largely new schools not yet with their full 
contingent of year groups, and school expansions undertaken from September 2024. 
Once new places for September 2024 have been confirmed this will be combined with 
revised expectations on when new schools arising from housing growth will open to 
assess the full call on the grant.   

 
87. It remains possible for local authorities to transfer up to 0.5% of the Schools Block DSG 

to High Needs following consultation with schools and with the approval of the schools 
Forum. Secretary of State approval can be sought where Schools Forum do not agree a 
transfer, where local authorities wish to transfer more than 0.5% and for local variations 
to some of the technical aspects of the NFF. No such transfer is proposed for 2024/25 
although there is growing pressure from the DFE through The Delivering Better Value in 
SEND (DBV) Programme to consider this for future years.  

 

28



 
 

School Funding Formula  
 
88. The provisional Schools Block settlement was issued in July 2023 and subsequently 

updated in October 2023 for what the DfE stated as an error in calculating pupil 
forecasts. This resulted in reduced per pupil allocations for schools, the settlement 
delivers a minimum per pupil increase of £0.5%. The NFF delivers a minimum amount of 
funding per pupil, £4,610 for primary and £5,771 for Key Stage 3 and £6,331 per Key 
Stage 4 pupil. 

 
89. Schools remaining on the funding floor are vulnerable to changes in future levels of DfE 

protection. 40 schools (17%) remain on the funding floor and at +0.5% per pupil budget 
allocations do not reflect the current inflationary pressure in these schools which will 
encounter real terms decrease in funding. As funding protection is at a pupil level, 
schools with decreases in pupils will see an overall decrease in funding. For many small 
schools this issue is posing significant financial concerns. Schools will continue to get a 
grant to provided financial support to meet the costs of the 2023 teacher pay award. 

 
90. Whilst the NFF for schools is based upon the 2023 School Census, funding for local 

authorities is based upon the pupil characteristics recorded on the 2022 school census. 
Any increase in pupils eligible for additional funding i.e., Free School Meals, is unfunded 
and could result in it not being possible to meet the cost of fully delivering the NFF from 
the Schools Block DSG. This impact will be reviewed once data from the 2023 Census 
has been fully processed. The national regulations continue to allow local authorities to 
apply capping and scaling of school budget increases in conjunction with an adjustment 
within the Minimum Funding Guarantee within the school funding formula to ensure the 
budgets for schools can be fully met from the DSG allocation as was the case for 
2023/24 school budget allocations. 

 
91. Local authorities are required to submit their funding formula to the ESFA in mid-January 

2024. 
 
High Needs 
 
92. The structure of the High Needs NFF is unchanged from 2023/24 and the provisional 

settlement at £108.439m and a 3% increase per head of population. However, it should 
be noted that the population factor accounts for just £38.7m (36%) of the settlement 
figure meaning that 63% of the formula is subject to no uplift unlike the schools NFF 
where all funding factors have been increased for 2024/25. 

 
93. Leicestershire remains at the funding floor i.e., the application of the high needs NFF 

would generate a lower settlement without this protection. The NFF remains 
unresponsive to changes in the overall SEN population: 

 

• £10.1m (9%) of the NFF is driven by the number pupils in special school and 
independent school places, 

• £31.8m (28%) of the formula relates to historic spend from 2017/18, this was 
£58.4m compared to a forecast spend of £121.2m for 2023/24, 

• £2.8m (3%) of the formula is from the funding floor. 
 

94. There is no indication of whether the high needs NFF will be reviewed although there is 
an expectation of national tariffs arising from the SEND and Alternative Provision Action 
Plan. There is no indication of timescales for any associated funding changes and the 

29



 
 

only reference within the settlement is “… by the end of 2025, the department [DfE] will 
have made progress towards introducing a national framework of banding and price 
tariffs.” It is unlikely that any changes to funding structure, and indeed the method by 
which local authorities are funded, before the 2027 financial year. Additionally given that 
the NFF for mainstream schools commenced in 2018 and remains unfinished, funding 
change in this financially and politically sensitive area could be many years away. 
 

95. Cost reduction savings totalling £41.5m are built into the MTFS and fall into two areas: 
 

Additional Local Specialist Places - Overall, over the MTFS period a total of 135 
additional places are scheduled to be delivered, which will be achieved through the 
opening of the Bowman Free School in Shepshed and expansion of current provision in 
both special schools and resource bases attached to mainstream schools. This is 
estimated to result in a cost reduction of £2.5m in 2024/25 rising to £13.8m in 2027/28 
by meeting pupil needs in local provision without the need for a higher cost independent 
school. A further special free school is being built by the DfE on Farley Way in Quorn, 
but its opening is forecast outside the 2024/25-2027/28 MTFS period.   
 
Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire – Through reducing the number 
of starts in specialist provision, improved decision making and consistency in allocation 
of resources, the TSIL programme is forecast to reduce cost by £3.8m in 24/25 rising to 
£27.7m in 2027/28. The programme is a seven-year programme with total of £36.5m of 
cost savings achieved in the seven years to 2028/29. The savings over the MTFS period 
are: 
 

  2024/25 2025/26 2026/26 2027/28 

  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

          

Reduction in the number of EHCP Needs Assessment 
Requests -228 -660 -1,231 -1,778 

Reduction in Assessment Conversion Rate -352 -861 -1,430 -1,918 

Reduced Mainstream EHCP Cost  -345 -948 -1,634 -2,315 

Reduction in the number of Early Years Specialist Starts -587 -1,206 -1,839 -2,478 

Reduction in the number of Non-Early Years Specialist 
Starts -1,333 -3,840 -6,721 -9,779 

Reduction in Non-Early Years Specialist Cost -1,333 -3,840 -6,721 -9,779 

Savings Achieved at Annual Reviews -391 -380 -380 380 

          

Total - Potential Cost Reduction Savings -4,569 -11,737 -19,956 -27,666 

 
96. The forecast position on the High Needs element of the DSG over the MTFS period is 

shown below: 
 
 
 
 

 

30



 
 

  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

Grant Income -109,176 -112,430 -115,781 -119,233 

          

Placement Costs 120,579 133,297 147,279 162,705 

Other HNB Cost 10,679 11,279 11,279 11,279 

Commissioning Cost - New Places 162 37 0 0 

Invest to Save Project Costs - TSIL 986 986 986 986 

Total Expenditure 132,406 145,599 159,544 174,970 

          

Funding Gap Pre Savings 23,230 33,169 43,763 55,737 

          

TSIL Programme Defined Opportunities -3,788 -10,976 -19,195 -27,666 

Increase in Local Specialist Places -2,480 -5,995 -9,868 -13,803 

          

Total Savings -6,268 -16,972 -29,063 -41,469 

          

Annual Revenue Funding Gap 16,963 16,197 14,700 14,268 

          

Cumulative High Needs Deficit Brought 
Forward 48,501       

          

Cumulative High Needs Funding Gap 65,464 81,661 96,361 110,629 

          

Surplus (-ve) / Deficit Other DSG Blocks  -8,060 -8,057 -7,557 -4,957 

          

Dedicated Schools Grant Surplus (-ve) / 
Deficit  57,404 73,604 88,804 105,672 

          

High Needs Spend as % of High Needs DSG 122% 130% 139% 148% 

          

Surplus / Deficit as % of Total DSG 8% 10% 12% 14% 

 
97. Local authorities are required to carry forward DSG as an unusable reserve through the 

continued use of a Statutory Accounts override and may only now contribute to DSG 
with the approval of the Secretary of State. The accounts override legislation is 
confirmed to March 2026 when it is expected to end. Unless further legislation changes 
this, from this point local authorities will be required to make financial provision for the 
deficit.  

 
98. It is nationally recognised that additional funding alone will not address the financial 

difficulties many of which are created by a system where school and parental 
expectations have a greater influence than a local authority assessment of needs, 
appropriate provision and affordability. It is clear that policy changes are needed. Whilst 
the DfE’s Change programme may deliver some of that change in the long term there 
are no short- or medium-term solutions to address the financial challenges. At the 
continued levels of expected growth, the position is completely unsustainable and puts 
the Council’s finances in a very difficult position. As such it is essential that the planned 

31



 
 

measures to contain ongoing growth, are successful, but additional measures put in 
place to reduce both demand and costs. 

 
Central Services Block  
 

99. The central services block funds a number of school-related expenditure items such as 
existing school-based premature retirement costs, copyright licences under a national 
DfE contract for all schools and other historic costs. The 2024/25 settlement is £3.9m. 

100. The provisional settlement continues an annual reduction of 20% for the Historic Costs 
element of the settlement but a guarantee remains in place to ensure that funding does 
not decrease below the financial commitment to meet former teacher employment costs. 
The Leicestershire allocation is £118k below the cost and a claim for additional funding 
will be submitted in February.  

 
Early Years Block 
 
101. The DfE have announced additional early years DSG to extend early years entitlements. 

In addition to the offer of the Free Entitlement to Early Education (FEEE) of 15 hours for 
38 weeks per year for three and four-year-olds, the existing two-year-old entitlement to 
15 hours of free childcare for eligible children of disadvantaged parents expands to 
include to 15 hours of free childcare for eligible children of working parents starting from 
April 2024 for two-year-olds and September 2024 for children aged between nine 
months and two years-old. 

102. Whilst the Early Years DSG settlement has yet to be published it is estimated to be 
£63.2m and based on funding rates of £4.77 per hour for the three – four-year-olds and 
£7.07 for two-year-olds. Local authorities are required to pass through 95% of the 
settlement to providers, the remaining 5% meeting the cost of the Early Learning and 
Childcare service and continuing to recoup the early years deficit recorded in 2022/23. 
 

Capital Programme 
 
103. The proposed Children and Family Services capital programme totals £89.8m, for which 

the majority (£65.1m) there is external funding or capital receipts expected, and £24.5m 
prior years’ external funding held in reserves, resulting in £266k call on LCC capital 
funding over the four-year life of the proposed MTFS as per the summary table below 
and further details in Appendix C. 

 
104. The programme continues to focus upon the delivery of additional primary and 

secondary school places and additional places to be delivered to support the 
Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) programme. £63.6m is 
proposed to be invested in the provision of additional placements; £13.9m for SEN and 
£12.3m for investment in other capital requirements including completing the investment 
in residential homes, strategic capital maintenance and improved schools’ access and 
security. 

 

CFS Capital 
Programme 
'£000 

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

Additional 
School Places 

24,401 33,487 4,967 700 63,555 

32



 
 

 
Provision of Additional School Places  

 
105. The investment in additional school places totals £63.6m over four years including 

£24.4m next year. The programme is funded through the Basic Need grant from the DfE 
and S106 developer contributions.  

 
SEND Programme 
 
106. The four-year investment in the SEND programme is £13.9m and contains funding for 

developments to support the TSIL programme. 
 

Other Capital  
 

107. There is £11.9m “other capital” included comprising of: 

• £8m Strategic Capital Maintenance (£2m assumed per annum subject to 
funding), 

• £2m Schools Dedicated Formula (£0.5m assumed per annum subject to 
funding), 

• £1.2m to invest in improvement in schools’ access and security, 

• £1.1m investment in residential properties within the Children’s Innovation, 
Partnership (CIP) with more details outlined in the savings section above. 

 
Funding Sources 
 
108. The majority of the capital programme is likely to be funded by external grant and 

developer S106 contributions as follows: 
 

Capital Resources 
'£000 

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

Grants 5,636 19,577 3,500 3,500 32,213 

External 
Contributions / S106 

9,120 14,288 4,297 1,693 29,398 

Earmarked capital 
receipts  

1,750 1,672 0 0 3,422 

Discretionary 
Capital Funding  

266 0 0 0 266 

Prior Years’ grant 
funding held in 
reserve 

24,225 2,000 -30 -1,693 24,502 

Total Resources  40,997 37,537 7,767 3,500 89,801 

 
109. Basic Need Grant - is received from the DfE based upon the need to create additional 

school places. Grants of 3.1m and £17.1m have been confirmed for the years 2024/25 
and 2025/26 respectively but estimates of £1m have been included for the final two 
years of the programme. The grant reflects the overall place need across the County 
and for both maintained schools and academies. The grant meets the infrastructure 
costs of creating new places in primary and secondary schools. Eligible revenue costs 

SEND 
Programme 

12,650 1,250 0 0 13,900 

Other Capital 3,946 2,800 2,800 2,800 12,346 

Total 40,997 37,537 7,767 3,500 89,801 

33



 
 

fall to be met from the local authority’s growth fund, funded from DSG for primary and 
secondary schools.  

 
110. Strategic Maintenance Grant – is received from the DfE for the maintenance of 

maintained schools only. This grant is based on a formula that considers pupil numbers 
and the overall condition of the school estate. The grant reduces as schools convert to 
academies. Local authority allocations are yet to be confirmed. An assumption of £2m 
per annum has been included in the MTFS.  

 
111. S106 Contributions – it is estimated that a total of £29.4m of S106 contributions fund the 

proposed programme, £9.1m in 2024/25. Estimates for the latter two years of the MTFS 
are less certain and are dependent upon the speed of housing developments.   

 
Equality Implications  
 
112. Under the Equality Act 2010 local authorities are required to have due regard to the 

need to: 
 

a) Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, 
b) Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 

characteristics and those who do not; and, 
c) Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and 

those who do not.   

113. Given the nature of services provided, many aspects of the County Council’s MTFS will 
affect service users who have a protected characteristic under equalities legislation. An 
assessment of the impact of the proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken 
at a formative stage prior to any final decisions being made. Such assessments will be 
undertaken in light of the potential impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed 
changes. Those detailed assessments will be revised as the proposals are developed to 
ensure decision-makers have information to understand the effect of any service 
change, policy or practice on people who have a protected characteristic. 

 
114. There are several areas of the budget where there are opportunities for positive benefits 

for people with protected characteristics both from the additional investment the Council 
is making into specialist services and to changes to existing services which offer 
improved outcomes for users whilst also delivering financial savings. 

 

115. If, as a result of undertaking an assessment, potential negative impacts are identified, 
these will be subject to further assessment. 

 
116. Any savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject to the County Council’s 

Organisational Change Policy which requires an Equality Impact Assessment to be 
undertaken as part of the Action Plan.  

 
Human Rights Implications 

 
117. Where there are potential Human Rights implications arising from the changes 

proposed, these will be subject to further assessment including consultation with the 
Council’s Legal Services. 

34



 
 

 
Background Papers 
  
Report to Cabinet 19 December 2023 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2027/28: 
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/documents/b20044/Item%204%20-
%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20-
%20supplementary%20report%20Tuesday%2019-Dec-2023%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9  
 

Circulation under local issues alert procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel.: 0116 305 7441 
E-mail: Jane.Moore@Leics.gov.uk 
 
Declan Keegan, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel.: 0116 305 7668 
E-mail: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
 
Nerinder Samaria, CFS Finance Business Partner 
Tel.: 0116 305 7616 
E-mail: nerinder.samaria@leics.gov.uk  
 
Jenny Lawrence, Finance Business Partner (HN / SEN) 
Tel.: 0116 305 6401 
E-mail: jenny.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Revenue Budget 2024/25 
Appendix B – Growth and Savings 2024/25 to 2027/28 
Appendix C – Capital Programme 2024/25 to 2027/28 

35

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/documents/b20044/Item%204%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20-%20supplementary%20report%20Tuesday%2019-Dec-2023%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/documents/b20044/Item%204%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20-%20supplementary%20report%20Tuesday%2019-Dec-2023%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/documents/b20044/Item%204%20-%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20-%20supplementary%20report%20Tuesday%2019-Dec-2023%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
mailto:Jane.Moore@Leics.gov.uk
mailto:Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
mailto:nerinder.samaria@leics.gov.uk
mailto:jenny.lawrence@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A
CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES DEPARTMENT

REVENUE BUDGET 2024/25

Budget 23/24 S/D/B * Employees
Running 

Expenses
Internal 
Income

Gross Budget
External 
Income

Net Total 
24/25

Schools Early Years High Needs
Dedicated 

Schools Grant
LA Block

£ £ £ £ £ £ £
1,464,222 C&FS Directorate B 1,346,284 117,939 0 1,464,223 0 1,464,223 18,121 43,628 150,803 212,553 1,251,670
1,464,222 C&FS Directorate 1,346,284 117,939 0 1,464,223 0 1,464,223 18,121 43,628 150,803 212,553 1,251,670

2,527,289 C&FS Safeguarding S 2,715,658 195,844 -384,213 2,527,289 0 2,527,289 0 0 0 0 2,527,289
115,191 LSCB S 312,689 309,293 -67,451 554,531 -439,340 115,191 0 0 0 0 115,191

2,642,480 Safeguarding, Improvement & QA 3,028,347 505,137 -451,664 3,081,820 -439,340 2,642,480 0 0 0 0 2,642,480

1,646,527 Asylum Seekers S 1,491,916 12,472,445 0 13,964,361 -10,067,834 3,896,527 0 0 0 0 3,896,527
3,794,214 C&FS Fostering & Adoption S 3,410,355 383,859 0 3,794,214 0 3,794,214 0 0 0 0 3,794,214

44,605,703 C&FS Operational Placements S 0 55,774,684 0 55,774,684 -424,389 55,350,295 0 0 0 0 55,350,295
3,911,261 Children in Care Service S 3,369,561 770,209 0 4,139,770 -228,509 3,911,261 0 0 0 0 3,911,261
1,720,760 C&FS Adoption S 1,615,822 126,438 0 1,742,260 -21,500 1,720,760 0 0 0 0 1,720,760

55,678,465 Children in Care 9,887,654 69,527,635 0 79,415,289 -10,742,232 68,673,057 0 0 0 0 68,673,057

5,867,298 CPS North S 4,149,351 1,717,947 0 5,867,298 0 5,867,298 0 0 0 0 5,867,298
4,431,429 CPS South S 4,156,129 275,300 0 4,431,429 0 4,431,429 0 0 0 0 4,431,429
1,391,526 Childrens Management S 471,675 957,496 -37,645 1,391,526 0 1,391,526 0 0 0 0 1,391,526
3,220,963 C&FS First Response S 3,210,098 45,865 0 3,255,963 -35,000 3,220,963 0 0 0 0 3,220,963
1,001,839 Child Sexual Exploitation Team B 825,456 176,383 0 1,001,839 0 1,001,839 0 0 0 0 1,001,839
3,995,663 C&FS Disabled Children S 986,314 3,009,349 0 3,995,663 0 3,995,663 0 0 0 0 3,995,663

19,908,718 Field Social Work 13,799,023 6,182,340 -37,645 19,943,718 -35,000 19,908,718 0 0 0 0 19,908,718

551,292 Practice Excellence B 552,191 45,101 0 597,292 -46,000 551,292 0 0 0 0 551,292
551,292 Practice Excellence 552,191 45,101 0 597,292 -46,000 551,292 0 0 0 0 551,292

290,455 C&FS Community Safety B 324,639 2,361,686 -1,158,386 1,527,939 -1,240,441 287,498 0 0 0 0 287,498
290,455 Community Safety 324,639 2,361,686 -1,158,386 1,527,939 -1,240,441 287,498 0 0 0 0 287,498

3,914,668 C&FS CFWS East B 3,593,105 360,271 -109,096 3,844,280 0 3,844,280 0 0 0 0 3,844,280
4,712,703 C&FS CFWS West B 4,388,825 750,517 -122,463 5,016,879 -309,646 4,707,233 0 0 0 0 4,707,233
3,329,179 C&FS CFWS Youth B 4,284,263 927,873 -685,349 4,526,787 -1,191,552 3,335,235 0 0 0 0 3,335,235

409,208 C&FS CFWS Central B 75,000 359,174 0 434,174 -19,766 414,408 0 0 0 0 414,408
-2,342,441 C&FS Troubled Families Pooled Budget B 25,000 318,126 -932,316 -589,190 -1,688,649 -2,277,839 0 0 0 0 -2,277,839

10,023,317 C&FS Children & Families Wellbeing 12,366,193 2,715,961 -1,849,224 13,232,930 -3,209,613 10,023,317 0 0 0 0 10,023,317

1,095,127 C&FS Education Suffciency 1,492,705 28,665 0 1,521,370 -244,075 1,277,295 427,240 0 0 427,240 850,055
1,095,127 Education Suffciency 1,492,705 28,665 0 1,521,370 -244,075 1,277,295 427,240 0 0 427,240 850,055

40,610,279 C&FS 0-5 Learning S 2,600,731 39,851,102 -35,500 42,416,333 -67,662 42,348,671 0 40,391,097 1,600,815 41,991,912 356,759
546,908 C&FS 5-19 Learning B 851,815 495,802 -381,966 965,651 -218,930 746,721 363,214 0 0 363,214 383,507

4,052,438 Inclusion S 1,645,758 3,860,856 -160,959 5,345,655 -491,953 4,853,702 0 0 3,717,334 3,717,334 1,136,368
1,658,395 Oakfield S 0 1,794,023 0 1,794,023 0 1,794,023 0 0 1,424,995 1,424,995 369,028

0 Music Services B 1,748,274 361,699 0 2,109,973 -2,109,973 0 0 0 0 0 0
597,627 Education of Children in Care S 928,854 1,603,811 -546,020 1,986,645 -1,621,229 365,416 0 0 0 0 365,416

47,465,646 Education Quality & inclusion 7,775,432 47,967,293 -1,124,445 54,618,280 -4,509,747 50,108,533 363,214 40,391,097 6,743,144 47,497,454 2,611,079

107,856,867 C&FS SEN S 1,859,621 116,691,100 -634,741 117,915,980 0 117,915,980 0 0 116,386,046 116,386,046 1,529,934
2,423,669 C&FS Specialist Services to Vulnerable GroupsB 2,633,383 239,539 -268,810 2,604,112 -180,444 2,423,668 0 0 2,423,668 2,423,668 0
1,202,510 C&FS Psychology Service B 1,606,415 1,267,250 -124,000 2,749,665 -265,000 2,484,665 0 0 0 0 2,484,665
1,246,055 HNB Development Programme D 247,889 998,083 0 1,245,972 0 1,245,972 0 0 1,245,972 1,245,972 0

-13,332,664 DSG Reserve income N/A 0 0 -24,367,202 -24,367,202 0 -24,367,202 0 0 -24,367,202 -24,367,202 0
99,396,437 SEND & Children with Disabilities 6,347,308 119,195,972 -25,394,753 100,148,527 -445,444 99,703,083 0 0 95,688,484 95,688,484 4,014,599

6,560,279 C&FS Business Support B 6,575,568 393,318 -324,807 6,644,079 0 6,644,079 8,570 372,546 206,110 587,225 6,056,854
2,285,220 Central Charges B 0 2,285,220 0 2,285,220 0 2,285,220 1,434,683 210,848 639,689 2,285,220 0
-482,528 C&FS Finance B 0 604,781 -2,618,699 -2,013,918 0 -2,013,918 604,781 0 0 604,781 -2,618,699

1,349,900 C&FS Human Resources S 1,399,900 0 0 1,399,900 -50,000 1,349,900 674,900 0 0 674,900 675,000
827,264 C&FS Commissioning & Planning 887,266 1,554,100 -64,524 2,376,842 -1,549,600 827,242 0 0 0 0 827,242
552,840 C&FS Sub Transformation S 106,845 1,245,995 0 1,352,840 0 1,352,840 0 0 0 0 1,352,840

11,092,975 Business Support & Commissioning 8,969,579 6,083,414 -3,008,030 12,044,963 -1,599,600 10,445,363 2,722,934 583,394 845,799 4,152,126 6,293,236

-148,028,076 C&FS Dedicated Schools Grant S 0 12,837,810 -400,555 12,437,255 -162,200,267 -149,763,012 -3,835,279 -41,018,118 -104,909,615 -149,763,012 0
495,365,205 Delegated School Budgets S 0 507,654,507 0 507,654,507 -12,055,427 495,599,080 494,117,695 0 1,481,385 495,599,080 0

-493,633,856 Delegated Dedicated Schools Grant S 0 0 0 0 -493,813,926 -493,813,926 -493,813,926 0 0 -493,813,926 0
0 Dedicated Schools Grant Recoupment S 0 -400,858,477 0 -400,858,477 400,858,477 0 0 0 0 0 0

-146,296,727 C&FS Other 0 119,633,840 -400,555 119,233,285 -267,211,143 -147,977,858 -3,531,510 -41,018,118 -103,428,230 -147,977,858 0

103,312,407 Total 65,889,354 374,364,983 -33,424,703 406,829,634 -289,722,635 117,107,000 0 0 0 0 117,107,000

* S/D/B :  indicates that the service is Statutory, Discretionary or a combination of both

37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

GROWTH 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£000 £000 £000 £000

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES
** G1 Demographic growth & increasing cost of Social Care Placement mix 13,700 21,400 30,100 39,800
** G2 Front-line social care staff - increased caseloads 0 250 250 350

G3 Post Transforming SEND & Inclusion In Leicestershire(TSIL) sustainability 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200
G4 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) - increased demand/cost 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250
G5 Demand management -1,050 -1,150 -1,310 -2,290

TOTAL 16,100 23,950 32,490 41,310

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy
** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended

SAVINGS 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

References £000 £000 £000 £000

*  items unchanged from previous Medium Term Financial Strategy
** items included in the previous Medium Term Financial Strategy which have been amended
Eff - Efficiency saving
SR - Service reduction
Inc - Income

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES
** CF1 Eff Innovation Partnership - Creation of Assessment & Resource team and Hub and 

investment in residential accommodation
-1,000 -1,250 -1,500 -1,500

* CF2 Eff Departmental establishment modelling / Re-design 0 -440 -940 -940
** CF3 Eff

Defining CFS For the Future Programme - Phase 2 (including Dept. Eff. Savings) -200 -1,100 -1,700 -2,300
** CF4 SR Education Quality & Therapeutic Services Review -355 -355 -355 -355

CF5 Eff Reduced Care Costs through growth of internal family based placements -750 -1,250 -2,100 -3,100
CF6 Eff Defining CFS For the Future Programme 3: Smarter commissioning and 

procurement - Social Care Placements and externally commissioned services 0 -1,900 -3,200 -4,950
CF7 Eff SEND Service - Demand reduction and reduced tribunals 0 -100 -250 -400

TOTAL -2,305 -6,395 -10,045 -13,545

References

39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX  C

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2024-28

Estimated 
Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 
of Project 

£000

2024/25       
£000

2025/26       
£000

2026/27     
£000

2027/28     
£000

Total
£000

MAIN GRANT FUNDED PROGRAMME 

Mar-28 63,555 Provision of Additional School Places 24,401 33,487 4,967 700 63,555

SEND Programme
Mar-26 18,472 Expansion of Special Schools 12,650 1,250 0 0 13,900

Sub-total  - SEND Programme 12,650 1,250 0 0 13,900

Mar-28 8,000 Strategic Capital Maintenance 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 8,000
Mar-28 2,000 Schools Devolved Formula Capital 500 500 500 500 2,000
Mar-28 1,200 Schools Access / Security 300 300 300 300 1,200
Mar-25 1,146 Children's Residential Homes 1,146 0 0 0 1,146

Other Capital 3,946 2,800 2,800 2,800 12,346

Overall Total 40,997 37,537 7,767 3,500 89,801

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases
Additional School Infrastructure arising from Housing Developments

41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

23 JANUARY 2024 

TRANSFORMING SEND AND INCLUSION IN LEICESTERSHIRE 
(TSIL) PROGRAMME UPDATE 

REPORT OF THE 
DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee with an update on the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in 
Leicestershire (TSIL) programme. It sets out the progress since the previous 
update last considered by the Committee on 7 March 2023, achievements to 
date and next steps, as well as an overview of the current High Needs Block 
financial position. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The primary legislation regarding children and young people with Special 

Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) is the Children and Families Act 
2014. The 0-25 SEND Code of Practice (2015) is the statutory guidance that 
sets out how local authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups must work 
together to support children and young people with special educational needs. 

 
3. The financial framework for pupils with High Needs and the Dedicated Schools 

Grant (DSG) are laid out within the School and Early Years (Finance) 
Regulations and associated guidance issued by the Department for Education. 

 
4. In December 2018, the Cabinet authorised a consultation on the High Needs 

Block development plan, including proposed development of enhanced and 
expanded SEND provision across the County. 

 
5. In October 2019, the Cabinet was advised of the progress of the High Needs 

development plan. On 5 November 2019, a report was considered by the 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, summarising the 
national and local context relating to SEND along with an overview of the plans 
to continuously develop and improve services to support children and families 
who are experiencing SEND. 

43 Agenda Item 9



 

6. On 21 January 2020, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee considered a report that provided an overview of the Ofsted and 
Care and Quality Commission (CQC) SEND Inspection Framework. An update 
was provided on 1 September 2020, following the local area SEND inspection 
that took place in Leicestershire in February 2020, resulting in a Written 
Statement of Action. The report gave an update on the progress of the High 
Needs Block development programme. 

 
7. On 2 November 2021, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee considered a report that provided an overview on progress against 
the Written Statement of Action. That report also included a further progress 
report for the High Needs Block development programme. 

 
8. In March 2022, the Government set out its ambitions for changes to the SEND 

system and opened a period of consultation on the proposals which 
Leicestershire has responded to. The Green Paper, ‘SEND review: right 
support, right place, right time’ proposes some fundamental changes to the 
SEND system, including: 

a. A single national SEND and Alternative Provision (AP) System, 
b. Excellent provision from early years to adulthood, 
c. Reformed and integrated role for alternative provision, 
d. System roles, accountabilities, and funding reform, 
e. A National framework for funding SEND. 

 
9. In September 2022, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee the August 2022 considered an update provided about the 
commencement of the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire 
(TSIL) programme. 

 
10. In November 2022, the Children and Families department was reinspected as a 

follow up to the local area SEND inspection that took place in Leicestershire in 
February 2020 by Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC). A full 
update on this reinspection was provided to the Children and Families Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee in a separate report, on 24 January 2023. However, the 
outcome of the inspection has further informed the progress of the TSIL 
programme, as detailed below. 

 
11. The Scrutiny Commission received a report in March 2023 regarding the SEND 

Service and Finance which provided an overview of support to children and 
young people with SEND, the position regarding provision and the Council’s 
financial position in relation to SEND. The Chairman and Spokespersons of the 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee were invited to this 
meeting of the Scrutiny Commission. 

 
12. In March 2023, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

considered an update provided about the commencement of the Transforming 
SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) programme. 

 

44



 

Financial Benefits and Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) Position 
 
13. The financial position related to high needs is set out in detail within the 2024/25 

MTFS report which is included as a separate report on the agenda. 
 
14. The TSIL programme is focusing on improving outcomes and experiences for 

children and young people and their families in the belief that significant 
financial benefits will be delivered as a result (detail of workstreams below). The 
Pupil as currently formulated delivers £36.5m in cost reductions over a seven-
year period to 2028/29 and is on track to deliver these benefits. 

 
15. High Needs expenditure, despite cost reductions arising from TSIL and 

continued investment in local provision of £41.5m over the new MTFS period 
2024/25 to 2027/28, remains significantly greater than the High Needs block of 
the Dedicated Schools Grant. For 2024/25 expenditure forecast to be 22% in 
excess of the grant and is forecast to increase to be 48% in excess of the grant 
in 2027/28. Over the period of the MTFS there remains and annual funding gap 
of c£15m per year, and a cumulative high needs deficit over the same period 
forecast to be £65.5m in March 2025, rising to £110.6m in March 2028. 

 
Increasing Demand in the SEND System 
 
16. Increasing demand in the local SEND System continues to affect the financial 

position of the High Needs Block of the dedicated schools grant and the ability to 
deliver assessments within statutory deadlines. As noted previously, between 
2016 and 2020, there has been a 54% increase in the number of children and 
young people requiring an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) in 
Leicestershire (from 2,777 to 4,267). This compares to a national increase over 
the same period in England of 38% and in the East Midlands of 32%. At the 
same time, funding has not increased in line with this local trend. This trend 
continued through 2021 and 2022, with a further 38% growth in the number of 
children supported with an EHCP (from 4,267 to 5,888). 

 
17. This increasing demand continues to create drift and delay in the Special 

Educational Needs Assessment (SENA) service and means that statutory 
deadlines, as set out in the SEND Code of Practice (2014) continue not to be   
met. In turn, this has continued to lead to a large number of complaints being 
received from parents and carers and concerns raised by local education 
settings. The number of appeals against decisions and growing number of 
cases going to tribunal, often leading to the Courts overturning the decision of 
the Local Authority, also continues to be an issue. 

 
Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) Programme 
Overview 
 

18. In August 2022, the Department embarked on a new change programme for 
SEND and inclusion, known as Transforming SEND and Inclusion in 
Leicestershire (TSIL). This programme replaces the former High Needs Block 

45



 

development programme and whilst it builds on previous activity, it takes a 
different approach as it focuses on taking a whole-system approach to support 
inclusion in mainstream wherever possible. In addition, a third-party partner, 
Newton Europe, has been commissioned to support the programme, provide 
challenge to the system, and ensure an effective, child-centered delivery. 

 
19. Underpinning the programme has been working collaboratively with a wide 

range of parents, young people, leaders, and staff across the education system 
(early years, mainstream, specialist provision and further education) and health, 
to design and implement an inclusive system that puts independence, 
outcomes, and educational achievement at the centre. The programme has also 
been defined by a desire to involve children and young people and their 
parents/carers and families as much as possible. It is critical that they are at the 
heart of the programme and plans for the future of the SEND system in 
Leicestershire and that they are involved in the designing and development of 
the work. 

 
20. A diagnostic was undertaken in late 2021 to understand the challenges and 

difficulties in the local SEND system and to inform programme planning for the 
TSIL programme. Using the evidence and data from the diagnostic, which 
highlighted the biggest challenges to meeting the needs of children and young 
people in the right place at the right time, the delivery of the programme has 
been structured around four key workstreams: 

i. Inclusive Practice, 
ii. Service Transformation, 
iii. Accurate Information, 
iv. Communication and Engagement. 

 
21. Throughout the programme, these four workstream areas have been connected 

and underpinned by a set of principles: 

• Maintain a focus on children and young people, 

• No one person or organisation can solve the problems alone, 

• Shift to a mindset of collective responsibility, 

• Work in genuine partnership, 

• Foster good working relationships, 

• Improved and honest communication, 

• Define roles and responsibilities, 

• Set clear expectations, 

• Make transparent and robust decisions, 

• Support children and young people early and close to home. 

Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) – Progress 
 

22. During the second half of 2023, the TSIL programme moved into an 
implementation and sustainability phase – where improvements that were 
created in the design phase are rolled out with the relevant teams or 
stakeholders to deliver change. There is a strong focus on ensuring that these 

46



 

changes are sustainably embedded by tracking and driving measurable 
progress in each of the areas. 

 

23. With the majority of workstreams having entered implementation at the start of 
this academic year, the TSIL programme is starting to have an impact (as 
outlined below for specific areas of work). However, there is still significant 
improvement to be made for many children, families and education providers – 
with next steps noted below. 
 

Service Transformation 
 
24. In September 2023, the SENA service underwent a reset, in which the former 

locality teams were refocused into teams with specific functions – namely 
Assessments, Reviews, and Placements. Five of the design workstreams were 
implemented simultaneously through this reset, with significant training and 
onboarding to new tools and ways of working taking place through the autumn 
term. 

 
25. Impact on productivity and therefore timeliness – One of the key impacts of the 

reset is to allow case managers to work in focused teams, and thus significantly 
increase the productivity for assessments and reviews. This improvement has 
been seen in the first few months of the reset, with reviews throughput 
continually increasing week on week, and all aspects of an assessment 
completed within statutory timeframes excluding the request for advice. This 
has increased overall assessment timeliness (completed within 20 weeks) from 
0% to 11%. Whilst we acknowledge that there are still many children and 
families with cases overdue, this progress shows that timeliness will continue to 
improve over time. 

 
26. Impact on outcomes – trials undertaken during the design phase of the 

programme have highlighted the importance of earlier and meaningful 
conversations with parent carers and schools during the EHCP process to 
ensure clarity and consensus on suitable placement options. Accordingly, 
processes have been reviewed to incorporate these conversations and SENA 
staff have received appropriate training and signposting to supporting tools such 
as the Inclusive Practice Toolkit and the SEND Provision in Leicestershire 
(SPIL) guide and directory. These new processes are already having an impact 
on a significant number of children and young people. 

 
27. Impact on communication – Improving communication was another key driver of 

the changes in the SENA reset – with new ways of working focusing on 
proactive communication with schools and parents around every aspect of the 
process. Again, this has not been perfect as the ways of working have been 
embedded and the capacity constraints on the Service continue. However, the 
quotes below show that these changes are starting to have a real impact for 
individual schools and families: 
 

a. “On a separate note - your support and communication in letting me 

47



 

know what is happening has been excellent.  Please feel free to share 
this with any line manager.  This has meant that I can manage 
parental expectations, support with staffing and recruitment and 
support staff in knowing what is happening too.  As I have said before, 
I have been part of the TSIL / EHCP / SEND Peer Review etc and so I 
appreciate the difficulties and how hard you are all working but your 
communication here has been very much appreciated. It is the not 
knowing that is difficult.” – School SENCo. 
 

b. “Hi, again, thank you so much for the thorough reply/investigating - we 
really do appreciate all your help with this and your quick responses.” 
– Parent. 

 
28. Impact on staff – The pressures within the SEND system have also been felt by 

staff within LCC, particularly those working in the SENA service. A further focus 
and benefit of the SENA reset is giving staff greater clarity on roles on 
expectations, with the majority of staff working in one of the three new teams as 
opposed to having responsibility across all areas. This is beginning to have a 
positive impact for staff within SENA (e.g., a case manager spoke passionately 
at a recent all-system event on the impact for them personally). 

 
29. As part of the programme, the Council has worked with the Leicestershire 

SEND Hub, school leaders and other stakeholders to develop a guide and 
directory that allow comparison of different types of educational settings and 
provision available to support children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities.  The SPIL Guide explains about the different 
types of local educational settings and provisions and how they can help to 
meet the needs and support children and young people with SEND.  The SPIL 
Directory is designed to help parents/carers to choose a certain setting or 
provision for their child or young person and to be able to compare what they 
can offer but will also offer other professionals and interested parties a single 
source of information to refer to.  It is intended to be used alongside other 
sources of information such as the Local Offer and the Inclusive Practice 
Toolkit.  The guide and directory are not legal documents, and it is 
acknowledged that this directory doesn't constitute the only guide and directory 
to educational setting types available in Leicestershire.   

 
30. Managers in the SENA Service are now reviewing weekly Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs) to ensure strong oversight of current performance and to 
identify any concerns or emerging risks and to put in place actions to ensure 
mitigations or improvements. 
 

Inclusive Practice 
 
31. The Inclusive Practice Toolkit was created because it was clear from design 

groups that people require more support to navigate the SEND system 
successfully. It outlines the process of provision for children and young people 
with SEND within Leicestershire and provides a framework to talk about 

48



 

provision, as well as roles and accountabilities within the system. The Toolkit 
has been trained to both staff within Leicestershire County Council and 
colleagues in the education system, with a focus on SENCos. The toolkit has 
had significant reach, with the webpages visited over 4000 times during the 
autumn term, and a sample of SENCos showed that 50% of them had already 
been using it to support their work. 

 
32. Setting specific planning has also been implemented. This is a process of high 

support and high challenge for a targeted group of schools and trusts who have 
data that indicates they would benefit from support with the inclusion of children 
and young people with SEND. The process involves a multi-disciplinary team of 
professionals reviewing data internally before meeting with the setting to 
discuss recommendations and next steps. This process was underway with a 
cohort of six schools and trusts in the autumn term, with challenging yet 
constructive meetings having taken place, with next steps in place. 

 
33. Following on from last year's design groups, a refreshed system partnership 

structure is being set up that will: 
 

i) involve groups & partners including the SEND hub, the SENCoNet, the 
system leadership group & the inclusive practice working group; and, 

ii)  prioritise and deliver on opportunities to develop practice in 
Leicestershire through a system inclusion survey. The continued shared 
ownership of challenges and solutions within the SEND system in 
Leicestershire is a key part of the sustainability and continuous 
improvement in the coming years. 

 
Accurate Information 
 
34. Workflows have been redesigned and updated in line with the new ways of 

working, increasing the accuracy of both the operational and financial data 
being captured. 

 
35. This data is now collated and presented in new dashboards, which are used in 

many areas of the Service. The focus within SENA is on both case 
management, ensuring the timely allocation and completion of work; as well as 
performance – allowing managers oversight of their teams and taking action to 
drive improvement accordingly.  

 
36. The Business Intelligence team are further developing permanent dashboards 

to ensure data visibility to meet the statutory reporting arrangements that the 
Local Authority is responsible for regarding SEND data. 

 
Engagement, co-production and co-design with system partners 
 
37. As noted above, working in collaboration and partnership is a core principle of 

the TSIL programme. Some of the key activity both to communicate progress 
through the programme as well as to foster co-production and co-design is 

49



 

outlined below.  A number of activities within the TSIL programme, such as 
development of the Inclusive Practice Toolkit and the SPIL guide and directory, 
demonstrate examples of co-production with schools and parent carers. 

 
38. Throughout the programme, there has been a focus on providing regular 

updates to stakeholders and examples include a series of All System Events (all 
stakeholders) and internal staff briefings (for Council staff) providing information 
about Programme progress, next steps and evidence of impact. We have also 
maintained a System Leadership group with participants from school leaders in 
Leicestershire who have acted as representatives of the local education system 
and acted as a critical friend for the programme. 

 

39. The relationship with the local Parent Carer Forum, the Leicestershire SEND 
Hub, has also been a key focus for activity. This has supported all phases of the 
programme and has led to a number of co-produced activities, as stated above. 
Work with the SEND Hub has been aligned to other activity and co-production 
around the departments Accelerated Progress Plan (APP) and the emerging 
DfE Change Programme and has contributed to the strengthening and maturity 
of the Council’s relationship with this key strategic partner. 

Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) – Next steps 
 
40. Whilst there has been positive progress to improve services for children with 

special educational needs and disabilities, we know that there is still a lot of 
work to do, in particular around communication and improving timeliness and 
quality of Education Health and Care Plans. The TSIL programme will continue 
to drive and embed current improvements into 2024, as well as considering how 
the SEND system in Leicestershire can go further with new opportunities to 
improve and be able to be managed within the grant allocation. 

 
41. Examples of other work that is continuing include work to review and improve 

internal decision-making processes (including SEND panels) and work to review 
current funding models. Where appropriate this work is embracing principles of 
co-production with involvement from Health colleagues, school leaders and the 
Leicestershire SEND Hub (parent carer forum).  

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
42. None. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 24 January 
2023, SEND Reinspection: 
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1043&MId=7190&Ver=4. 
 
Report to the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 7 March 
2023, Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire: 

50

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1043&MId=7190&Ver=4


 

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1043&MId=7191&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Scrutiny Commission, 15 March 2023, SEND Service and Finance 
Update:  
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=7099&Ver=4  
 
The Green Paper, ‘SEND review: right support, right place, right time’: 
https://consult.education.gov.uk/send-review-division/send-review-2022/  
 
Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire Website: 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs- 
and-disability/transforming-send-and-inclusion-in- 
leicestershire#:~:text=What%20is%20the%20Transforming%20SEND,with%20SEN 
D%20and%20their%20families 
 
SEND Provision in Leicestershire (SPIL) guide and directory: 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-
and-disability/education-and-childcare/send-support-in-schools/send-provision-in-
leicestershire-spil   
 
Equalities Implications 
 
43. There are no equalities implications directly arising from this report. Within the 

report, there is reference to a number of on-going programmes of work and 
activity and as these develop any potential equalities and human right issues 
will be addressed in line with the Council’s policy and procedure. 

 
Human Rights Implications 
 
44. There are no human rights implications directly arising from this report. 
 
Appendix 
 
Overview of the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) 
programme. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Alison Bradley 
Assistant Director Education, SEND and Commissioning 
Tel: 0116 305 58825 
Alison.Bradley@leics.gov.uk 

51

https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1043&MId=7191&Ver=4
https://democracy.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=7099&Ver=4
https://consult.education.gov.uk/send-review-division/send-review-2022/
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-%20and-disability/transforming-send-and-inclusion-in-%20leicestershire#:~:text=What%20is%20the%20Transforming%20SEND,with%20SEN D%20and%20their%20families
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-%20and-disability/transforming-send-and-inclusion-in-%20leicestershire#:~:text=What%20is%20the%20Transforming%20SEND,with%20SEN D%20and%20their%20families
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-%20and-disability/transforming-send-and-inclusion-in-%20leicestershire#:~:text=What%20is%20the%20Transforming%20SEND,with%20SEN D%20and%20their%20families
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-%20and-disability/transforming-send-and-inclusion-in-%20leicestershire#:~:text=What%20is%20the%20Transforming%20SEND,with%20SEN D%20and%20their%20families
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-and-disability/education-and-childcare/send-support-in-schools/send-provision-in-leicestershire-spil
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-and-disability/education-and-childcare/send-support-in-schools/send-provision-in-leicestershire-spil
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-and-disability/education-and-childcare/send-support-in-schools/send-provision-in-leicestershire-spil
mailto:Alison.Bradley@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix - Overview of the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) programme 
 
 

53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE - 23 JANUARY 2024 

 
DRAFT CHILDREN AND FAMILIY SERVICE DEPARTMENTAL PLAN 

2024 - 2026 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES 

 
 
Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the draft Leicestershire Children and 

Family Service’s Departmental Plan 2024 – 26, attached as an Appendix to the 
report, for comment and consideration.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 

2. The draft plan for 2024-26 has been developed to fulfil statutory duties and 
provide a basis for the Children and Family Service’s vision, planning, 
commissioning, and delivery of services until 2026. The plan, and associated 
actions, provide a vehicle for the Children and Family Service’s Department to 
work together on shared priorities, and to maximise resources and expertise. 

   
3. The draft Children and Family Service Departmental Plan 2024 – 26 is aligned 

to the County Council’s Strategic Plan for 2022 - 26 and aims to set out how the 
Department will contribute to the delivery and achievement of the Council’s five 
strategic outcomes. 

 
4. It also aligns to Leicestershire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Children 

and Families Partnership Plan, and Food Plan, as well as partner plans 
including Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Infant Feeding and Infant 
Mortality Strategies. 

 
Background 

 
5. Children and Family Services Department has developed the new draft 

Departmental Plan for 2024 - 26, setting out a refreshed vision, priorities and 
ambitions for its Services. The Department has identified three ambitions and 
ten associated priorities to contribute towards improving outcomes for the 
children, young people and families of Leicestershire: 

 
a) Support children and young people to Build Strong Foundations: 

55 Agenda Item 10



 
 

• Support parents and babies, before and after birth, to create the 

conditions where stress is reduced, positive bonds and attachments can 

be formed, and language and communications skills can be developed, 

• Work in partnership to identify those children who would benefit from 

support and provide co-ordinated services at the earliest opportunity, 

• Support children and families to build strength, resilience, confidence and 

the skills to find their own solutions wherever possible. 

 

b) Support children and young people to Be Safe and Belong: 

 

• Work in partnership to ensure risk is understood and reduced and 

targeted support is provided at the right time, in the right place and by the 

right service, 

• Ensure children in care and care leavers feel they have a stable, safe, 

loving home where they belong, 

• Ensure children and young people who are most vulnerable are protected, 

are safe from harm and supported. 

 

c) Support children and young people to Enjoy and Achieve: 

 

• Ensure every child has access within their community to good quality, 

inclusive education that enables them to achieve their full potential, 

• Focus on learning and readiness for learning as a driver of wellbeing for 

all children and young people, 

• Ensure that children who have additional needs and vulnerabilities are 

supported in the right place, at the right time in order to narrow the gap, 

• Work with schools and educational settings to ensure there is a clear 

understanding of the impact of poverty and trauma to ensure that children 

are not disadvantaged from accessing education. 

 
Consultation 

 
6. Formal consultation has not been undertaken specifically on the draft 

Departmental Plan as the Children and Family Service actively and continually 
seeks feedback from children, young people and families across Leicestershire 
as part of any direct work and group work undertaken with children and 
families, through specific engagement activity, through transformation activity 
and through forums including the Children’s Youth Council for Leicestershire 
(CYCLe), Children in Care Council and the SEND Parent Carer Forum. The 
plan has been informed by this feedback from children, young people and 
families on their needs and experiences.  
 

Resource Implications 
 
7. The Plan will provide the context within which Children and Family Service 

budgets are produced and the department will continue to ensure it makes the 
best possible use of its resources. 

 

56



 
 

Timetable for Decisions 
 

8. The draft Departmental Plan is due to be presented to the Cabinet at its 
meeting on 9 February 2024. Any comments raised by the Children and 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be taken into consideration. It is 
intended to officially launch the Plan in April 2024. 

 
Conclusion 
 
9. The Committee is asked to consider and comment on the draft Children and 

Family Service Departmental Plan 2024 – 26. 
 
Equality Implications   

 
10. An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and has identified no 

specific equality implications arising from this report. The refreshed Children 
and Family Service plan is for all children and young people living in 
Leicestershire and their families. The plan would not seek to discriminate 
against any child or young person but rather to ensure that the needs of all 
children and young people are met, therefore there is the potential for all 
children, young, their families to experience a positive impact as a result of the 
plan. 

 
Human Rights Implications 
 
11. There are no human rights implications arising from this report. 

 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 

 
12. Delivery of the plan will require the Department to maintain and develop 

effective working relationships with a range of partners, including but not limited 
to colleagues across all other County Council departments, District Councils, 
Health, Police, Leicester City and Rutland Councils and the voluntary and 
community sector. 

 
Background papers   
 
13. None  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
14. None 
 
Appendices 
 
Children and Families Partnership Plan 2024 -26 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore 

57



 
 

Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 3052649 
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mala Razak 
Children and Families Partnership Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 8055 
Email: mala.razak@leics.gov.uk   

58

mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:mala.razak@leics.gov.uk


Leicestershire  
Children and  
Family Services 
Departmental Plan  
2024 - 2026

This plan sets out our ambition for children and our 
high-level priorities for Leicestershire County Council’s 
Children and Family Services Department for the next 
two years. Our vision is for children and young people in 
Leicestershire to be safe, nurtured, loved and supported 
to succeed.

59



‘It is really  
important that  

people listen to the 
families when in need, 

don’t just tell them what 
they have to do,  

help them’

I feel we are called 
Children in Care 

too often. This feels 
like a negative label 
and makes me feel 

different. 

To make things even better we 
could keep the same worker 

even if our situation changes, 
instead of having to change 
workers in the same service 

when our issues change
What Children, Young People  
and Families have told us

Truly listening to families 
and creating real change 

through their voice.  
Where things are not 

possible, to be bought in, 
that being explained why.

As Children in Care  
Council members, we have and 

share personal experiences which 
are really important in helping to 

improve life for other young people 
who don’t have a voice or are  

unable to speak out.

Really like the idea of  
shared front door, then we don’t 

have to retell our story again 
and again, professionals working 

together always benefits  
us in the long run

Our worker listened to us and the 
children, planned and did what she 
said she would do for us. She was 
clear about not making promises 
to us she couldn’t achieve.”

The plan has been informed by what children, young people and families have 
told us about their needs and experiences, this has helped shape our priorities 
across the plan and in turn the services across the Department.

My worker  
asked what was 
needed. No-one  
has ever asked us  

that before. I would support this (Family 
Help) way of working, you’ll get 
families to engage more in work 

if you help them rather than 
telling them what to do

It’s important  
that families know 

where to go and get 
help so access to the 

Family Hub makes 
that’s easier

I need adults to  
explain what meetings 

are about and what they 
are for clearly because 
I do not know all of the 

big words used

60



Strategies that will underpin delivery of the Plan
Business Intelligence Strategy 
Care Placements Strategy
CFS Placement Sufficiency and 
Market Position Statement 
Community Safety Strategy
Corporate Parenting Strategy
Early Help Strategy 2023-26 

Maternity and Early Years 
Strategy 2023-26 
Permanence and Adoption 
Strategy
Recruitment and Retention 
Strategy
Road to Excellence 2024-26

SEND Joint Commissioning 
Strategy 
Transforming SEND and 
Inclusion in Leicestershire
Voice and Influence Strategy
We Care Strategy 
Youth Justice Plan 2023-26

One Vision 
For all children and young people in 
Leicestershire to be safe, nurtured, 
loved and supported to succeed in 
caring and inclusive communities.

Three Ambitions
We want to support all children and young people to: 

How  
we will 

do it:

Voice: 
Putting children and young people at the heart of 
all of our activities by involving them, hearing them 
and ensuring their voice is influencing our services. 

Equality, Equity and Inclusion: 
Supporting children and young people to feel 
valued, to explore their identity and to tackle 
discrimination within their local community.

Meaningfully and actively championing 
diversity across our department. 

Demonstrating fairness and inclusivity across 
our whole organisation.

Visible Leadership:
Leading with integrity, purpose and vision.

Clear decision making that keeps children at its heart.

Developing and retaining  
an excellent workforce: 
Equipping our workforce with the skills, 
knowledge and behaviours needed 
to be the best to support improved 
outcomes for children and young people 
in Leicestershire. 

Robust Commissioning: 
Having processes in place that ensure 
innovation, best value and quality, market 
engagement and support sufficiency needs.

Having a focus on joint commissioning 
across partners to ensure collaboration and 
partnership working where it is appropriate.

Trauma Responsive: 
Providing a safe, compassionate and 
inclusive environment that recognises 
the pervasiveness and potential impact of 
trauma on our children and families, our 
staff, our organisation and our communities. 

Acknowledging that every interaction is 
an intervention and that relationships are 
at the core of our work.

Values: 
Ensuring that Flexibility, Trust 
and Respect, Openness and 
Transparency and Positivity 
underpin our delivery of services 
for children and their families.

Data and 
performance:
Informing planning and driving 
performance by ensuring the right 
data and business intelligence is 
available to the right people, at the 
right time and in a form that they 
are able to use. 

What 
we will 

do

Ten priorities

To support children and young people to Build Strong Foundations we will:

Support parents and babies, before and after birth, to create the 
conditions where stress is reduced, positive bonds and attachments can 
be formed, and language and communications skills can be developed
Work in partnership to identify those children who would benefit from 
support and provide co-ordinated services at the earliest opportunity
Support children and families to build strength, resilience, confidence 
and the skills to find their own solutions wherever possible

To suport children and young people to Be Safe and Belong we will:

Work in partnership to ensure risk is understood and reduced and 
targeted support is provided at the right time, in the right place and by 
the right service
Ensure children in care and care leavers feel they have a stable, safe, 
loving home where they belong
Ensure children and young people who are most vulnerable are 
protected, are safe from harm and supported

To support children and young people to Enjoy and Achieve we will:

Ensure every child has access within their community to good quality, 
inclusive education that enables them to achieve their full potential
Focus on learning and readiness for learning as a driver of wellbeing for 
all children and young people
Ensure that children who have additional needs and vulnerabilities are 
supported in the right place, at the right time in order to narrow the gap 
Work with schools and educational settings to ensure there is a clear 
understanding of the impact of poverty and trauma to ensure that 
children are not disadvantaged from accessing education 

Build Strong 
Foundations

Be Safe and 
Belong

Enjoy and 
Achieve

Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2024 - 2026

Planning
Having detailed plans in place that outline 
how each ambition will be achieved and 
how progress will be monitored.

61



How we will know if  
we’ve made a difference
We will use the voice of children, young people and families 
to shape our priorities and we to measure our success, 
along with key indicators including:

Children in care 
Child protection cases 
which were reviewed  
within timescales

Children becoming subject 
to a Child Protection  
Plans for second or 
subsequent time

Re-referrals to social care 
within 12 mths

Assessments completed 
within 45 days 

CPP lasting 2 yrs or more 
open at the end of the 
quarter

Children in same placement 
for 2+ years or placed for 
adoption

Care leavers in suitable 
accommodation

Care leavers in education, 
employment or training

Children in care who  
have had dental checks 
within last 12 months (at 
end of period)

Children in care who 
have their annual health 
assessment within last 12 
months (at end of period)

Free Early Education 
Entitlement 

Eligible 2 year olds taking  
up their FEEE

Eligible 3 year olds taking  
up their FEEE

Eligible 2 and 3-year olds 
taking up their FEEE in a 
high-quality early years 
provision

Schools
Primary schools rated  
'Good' or 'Outstanding'

Secondary schools rated 
'Good' or 'Outstanding'

Pupils in Good or 
Outstanding schools

Applicants obtaining  
their first preferences for 
first time admission to 
Primary school

Secondary pupils achieving 
their first preference for 
Secondary transfer

Young people aged 
16-17 not in education, 
employment or training

Permanent exclusions as  
a % of School population

Children receiving at least 
one fixed term suspension  
as a % of School population

Reception pupils
Reception pupils  
reaching a ‘Good level  
of development’

Reception pupils with  
Free School Meals (FSM) 
status achieving ‘Good 
level of development’

Reception pupils with 
Education, Health and  
Care Plans achieving ‘Good 
Level of Development’

Key Stage 2 
KS2 - pupils achieving 
expected standard in 
Reading, Writing and 
Mathematics

KS2 - Expected level in 
Reading, Writing and Maths 
- pupils eligible for FSM

KS2 - Expected level  
in Reading, Writing and  
Maths - EHCP

KS2 - Expected level  
in Reading, Writing and 
Maths - SEN Support

Key Stage 4 
KS4 - Progress 8

KS4 - Progress 8 (FSM)

KS4 - Progress 8 (EHCP)

KS4 - Progress 8  
(SEN Support)

Youth Justice 
No. of first-time entrants  
to the criminal justice 
system aged 10-17  
(year to date)

Re-offending by young 
offenders

Instances of the use of 
custody for young people

62



Appendix 1

Leadership and 
Management Expectations

•	 With integrity, purpose and 
clear expectations

•	 With empathy, innovation and 
creativity

•	 With high support, high 
challenge and high expectations

•	 By valuing others, being inclusive, 
being ally to those around you 
and challenging barriers

•	 With a clear vision that 
demonstrates ambition for 
children, families, the workforce 
and services 

•	 Of services, teams and the 
child’s journey

•	 Is shared - ‘One Department’
•	 Issues are escalated as 

necessary

Lead Grip

•	 Decision making takes place  
at the appropriate level, 
is under- pinned by clear 
rationale and has children at 
its heart.

•	 Manage and lead staff, 
performance and budgets 
effectively and efficiently

•	 Using performance and service 
improvement activity to drive 
strong service delivery 

•	 We will model the values and 
behaviours we expect of others

•	 We will listen to and hear the 
voice of children, families and 
staff

•	 We will provide a safe, 
compassionate and inclusive 
environment that recognises 
the impact of trauma on our 
children, families and our staff

Ownership Ownership 
and and 

accountabilityaccountability

Values Values 
and and 

behavioursbehaviours

63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2023.
	8 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 - 2027/28.
	Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2024-25
	Appendix B - Growth and Savings 2024-25 to 2027-28
	Appendix C - Capital Programme 2024-25 to 2027-28

	9 Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) Programme Update.
	Appendix - Overview of the Transforming SEND and Inclusion in Leicestershire (TSIL) programme

	10 Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2024-26.
	Appendix - CFS Departmental Plan 2024 – 26
	_Hlk151989559
	_Hlk151983146
	_Hlk151983357



